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Yirgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their Strategic Report on Virgin Media Finanee PLC tor the year ended 31 December 2019,

For the purposes of this Strategic Repont. Directors” Report and financial stalements, the Yirgin Media Fipance
PLC proup will be referred to as ~the group™. Virgin Media Finance PLC the entity will be referred 1o as “the
company”. the group headed by Virgin Media Inc. will be referred Lo as “the Virgin \ledia group™. and the group
headed by Liberty Global ple will be referred w as “the Liberty Giobal group™.

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiars undertahing of Virgin Media tne. ¢"Virgin Media™) which is itseft'a
wholly-owned subsidiany of Libenty Global pl¢ (~Liberty (Global™).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Virgin Vedia group operates under the Viegmn Media brand in the | nited Kingdom {UR) and Ireland.

The group provides broadband internet. fixed-line telephony. mobile and broadcasting services in the UK and
Ireland to both residential and business-to-business (B2B) customers. The group is one of the UK s and Ireland’s
largest providers of residential broadband internet. video and fixed-line telephony services in terms of the
rumber of customers. e group believes its advanved. deep-tibre cable access necwork enables it to offer faster
and higher quality broadband services than its digitat subscriber line. or DSL, competitors. As a resolt it
provides its customers with a leading. nest-generation broadband service and one of the most advanced
interactive television services available in the UK and lrish markets.

I he group provides mobile services to its customers using a third-party network through mobile virtual network
operators {MVNO ) arrangements

in addition. through the Virgin Media Business brand, the group offers 4 broad portiulio of B2B voice. data.
inlernel, broadband and managed services solulions 10 small businesses. medium and Jarge enterprises and public
sgctor organisations in the UK and Treland.

AL 31 December 2019, the group provided senvices o 6 million residential cable customers on its network. The
proup provides mobile telephony services o 3 million contract mobile customers and 0.3 milion prepay mobile
customers over third parts aetworks. AL 3T December 2019, over 8420 of residential customers on the group’s
cable network received multipie servives and 62°0 were “triple-play ™ customers, receiving broadband internet,
video and fixed-line telephony services from the group.

Liberty Global is an international provider of broadband internet. video, fined-line telephony  and mobile
communications  services to  residential  customers  and  businesses  in Europe.  Liberty  Global's
operations comprise  businesses that provide residential and B2B  communications services i (i) the
UK and freland through \ irgin Media. (i) Belgium through Telenet and (i1 Switzerland. Poland and Slovakia
theough UPC Holding. in addition, Liberty Global owns a 0% pon-controlling imterest in the \ odafoneZiggo
IV which provides residential and B28 communications ser ices in the Setherlands.

AT 31 December 2009, Liberty Global's operations owned and operated networks thal passed 2358
million homes and served 250 million revenue generating wnits, consisting of 9.3 miltion broadhand
internet subscribers. 8.3 miltion video subscribers and 7.4 million Nxed-line twlephony subscribers. [n
addition. 1.berty Global also served 6.3 miilion mobike subscribers.

[ he principal activity of the company is to facilitate the group’s financing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policies, making and facilitating extermnal borrowings and holding inyesiments in subsidiary
companies. The compans s investments inglude substantially all of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating
cuampanies.

The group™s reporting segments are based on it neethod of internal weporting o Liberty Global and the
information used by s chiet executive ofticer. who is the chief epetating decision maher. or CODML 10 ey atuate
segment performance and make capital location decisions
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the vesr ended 31 December 2019

REVIEW OF THE Bl SINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

For the vear ended 31 December 2019, revenue increased by 11.3% to £5.168.1 million from £5.150.3 million in
2018 primarily as result of an increase in residential cable revenue and B2B revenue. See further discussion of
revenue under “Performunce against Key Performance fndicators” below.

Cost of sales increased by 5.3% o £1.708.0 million for the year ended 3F December 2019, from £1.621.5 million
in 2018. Cost of sales increased during 2019. compared 10 2018 mainly driven by an increase in programming
and copyright costs primarily due to higher costs for certain premium and or basic content, an increase in
internet and access costs primarily due to an increase in interconnect and roaming costs offset by a decrease in
mobile handset and other device vosts due to the effect of lower sules volumes and a lower average cost per
handset sold.

Gross profit decreased by 1 9%, to £3,460.1 million tor the vear ended 31 December 2019, from £3.528.8 million
for the vear ended 31 December 2018 primarily due to the reasons detailed above, Gross margin has decreased
by 1.5%¢ 10 67.0% for the year ended 3t December 20t from 68.5% for year ended 31 December 2018,

Administrative expenses decreased by 14.9%0 to £2.381.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, from
£2,800.2 million for the year ended 31 December 20(8. This was partly driven by the release of an impairment
on network assels of £424.7m, partially offset by an iacrease in depreciation associated with property and
equipment additions related to the installation of customer premises equipment and the expansion and upgrade of
our networks and other capital initiatives. In addition, relased-party fees and allocations. related to our estimated
share of the applicable costs incurred by Liherty Global™s subsidiaries increased t £277.6 mitlion for the ycar
ended 31 December 2019, from £156.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2618, These charges generally
relate o management, fimance, legal, technology and other corporate and administrative services provided to or
by vur subsidiaries. In addition there was a provision for litigation of £104.7 million related to a VAT matter in
the UK recognised during 2018.

Finance income decreased to £487_4 million for the year ended 31 Devember 2019, from £753.7 million for the
sear ended 31 December 2018, The lower interest income arising due to lower average interest rates on related
party loan receivables from other Liberty Global group undertakings and the impact of the strengthening of
pound sterling against the US dollar in 2019 compared to a weakening in 2018, which resulted in lower foreign
exchange gains in 2019 than gains made on the fair value of the derivative financial instruments in 201 8.

Finance costs decreased to £886.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from £1.008.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease in costs was principatly driven by the impact of the strengthening
of pound sterling against the LS doltar in 2019 compared to a weakening in 2018, which resulted in lower losses
on the fair value of derivative financial instruments in 2019 than foreign exchange losses in 2018, in addition
there was an overall decrease in interest pas able due 10 lower average outstanding third party debt and lower
weighted average inlerest rates.
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Performance against Key Performance Indicators
Kevente
Residential and B2B revenue includes bath subscription and non-subscription revenue.

: Cahte subscription revenue includes amoums received from subscribers for onpoing services., Cable non-
‘ subscription revenue includes. among other items. channel carriage fees. instatlation revenue. late fees and
revenue from the sale of equipment.

Residential mobile subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services.
Residential mobife non-subscription revenue includes, among other ilems. interconnect revenue and revenus
fram sales of mobile handscts and other devices.

B2B subscription revenuc represents revenue from services to certain small or home office (SOHO) subscribers.
SOQ subscribers pay a premium price o receive expanded service levels atong with breadband internet. video
and ived-ling telephony or mobile services that are the same or similar Lo the mass marketed products offered
residential subscribers. B2B non-subscription revenue includes revenue trom business broadband internet, video,
fixed-line telephony. mobite and data services offered to medium to large enterprises and on 3 whelesale basis,
to other operators.

Other revenue primarily includes broadeasting revenue.

Revenue by major category for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

2019 2018 Increase:
Revenue: £ million £ million tdecrease)
Residential revenue
Cable 3.665.7 36384 0.8%
’ Mobik: 655.9 663.5 TREL
Total residential revenue 43216 43019 0.5%
B2B Revenue 7753 7180 (0.319
(nher revenue 71.2 T0.4 1.1%
5.168.1 5.150.3 U3%

The increase in residential cable revenue is due to an increase in both the average number of RGUs ' (Revenue
Generating Units™} and increased ARPLU ' ¢ Average Revenue per b nit™):

s Jotal RGU s increased due to the net effect of an increase in the average number of broadband
intcrnet, and fived-line telephony RGL s, affser by i deerease in video RGLS.

*  The ingrease in ARPU is primariby atiributable 1o the net effect of higher ARPL. from broadband
interneY and video services, offset by lower ARPU from fised-line teiephons services and an
adverse change in ROU miv,

e
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 209, mobile revenue decreased to £635.9 million from £663.5 million in 2018.
The decrease in mobile revenue relates 10 a decrease in non-subscription revenue from mobile handset sales,
which typically gencrate relativety low margins, partially offset by £5.8 million of revenue recognised during
2019 in connection with the sale of rights to future commission pavments on customer handset insurance
arrangements. This is partially offset by an increase in residential mobile subscription revenue primarily due to
an increase in the average number of mobile subscribers. partially offset by lower ARPL in the LK.

The decrease in B2B revenue is primarily due to lower revenue from data services. installation revenwe. revenue
related 1o business networh services and revenue from wholesale fixed-line telephony services. partially offset
by an increase in upfromt revenue recognised in association with long-term leases of a portion of our network and
an increase in the average number of broadband internet SOHO RGU's in the UK,

The increase in other revenue is largely due o an increase in broadcasting revenue in {reland.

Summury residential cable staristies

Selected statistics for the group’s residential cable customers are shown below:

2019 218
Total sable customers 5.95.},500 5,046,600
Cable products: o .
Broadband internet 5,649,200 5.600.300
Video © 3,967,800 4.143.100
Fixed-line 1elephone L -1:?‘!‘0‘203 4.921,500
Total cable products 14,557,600 14,666,900
Cable products per customer (i) . EASx 2.47x
Triple play penetration . 60.8% 63.0%
Cable ARPU (ii) £51.34 £51.24

ti} Each telephone, television and broadband internet subscriber directly connected to the Virgin Media group’s
network counts as one product. Accordingly. a subscriber who receives both telephone and television services
counts as two products. Products may include subscribers ruceiving some services for free or at a reduced rate in
conneclion with promotional coffers.

(iiy Cable ARPU is calculated by dividing the average monthly subscription revenue (excluding interconnect
fees, channel carriage fees and fate fees) for the indicated period. by the average of the opening and closing
number of Customer Relationships for the period.

Fhe total number of cable products fell to 14.557.600 at 31 December 2019 from 13.666.900 at 31 December
2018, representing a et decredse in products of (09,300,

Summary mobile statistics

Selected statistics for the group's mohile customers are shown helow:

2019 MR
Postpaid mobile customers (i) 3.013.200 2744500
Prepaid mobile customers 1i) 163,900 2L
Totsl mobile customers 3277100 3.621.000
Maobile ARPL (i) : £9.19 £2.61

tiy Our Mobile Subscriber count represents the number of active subscriber identiheation module (SiAD cards in
service rather than services provided. For example. il a Mobile Subscriber has both a data and voice plan on a
smartphope this would cquate to one Mobile Subseriber, Alternatively, & subscriber who has a voice and data
plan for a mobile handset and a data plan for a laptop £y 1a a dongle s would be counted as two Mobile

3
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Subscribers. Customers who do not pay a recurring monthly fee are excluded from cur Mobile Subscriber counts
after a 30 day period of inactivity.

(33 Muobile monthly average revenue per user (“Muobile ARPL ™) is calculated by dividing the average monthly
mobile subscription revenue (excluding sales and late feesy for the indicated period by the average of the
opening and closing balznees ol total mobile subscribers in service for the period.

The group added 268.900 postpaid subscribers in 2019, Growth in postpaid subscriptions was offset by a lower
prupaid base. resulting in an overall increase in the group’s mobile base of 156100 in 2019,

FINARCING

As of 31 December 2019, the group had £12494 8 million of financial liabilities compared with £12.745.6
million as at it December 2018, The principal changes 1o financial liabilities during the year are discussed as
follows:

In May 2019, Viegin Media Secured Finance ple issued (1) $825.0 million (£622.0 million) principal amount of
2029 VA Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i) £300.0 million principal amount of 2029 Y\ 5.25% Sterling
Senior Secured Notes, Cach series of notes was issued at par and matures on May 15, 2029 The net proceeds
from the issuance ol these notes were used (o redeem in (Ul (ai £387.6 million outstanding principal amount
under the 2025 VN 5.5% Sterling Sentor Sceured Netes. (h) 835345 million (£267.3 million) outstanding
principal amount under the 2025 \ Al Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (<) £3¢0.0 miilion outstanding principal
amuunt under the 2024 v\ Sterling Senior Sotes. 10 coniection wiih these ransactions. we recognised @ loss un
debt meditication and extinguishmenr of £37.4 million

In July 2019, Virgin Media Secored Finance ple issued an additional $600.0 million (£452.4 million) principal
amount of 2029 VA Dollar Senior Secured Notes at 101.73% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of
these notes were used 10 redeem in full (iy $447.9 million (£337.7 million} outstanding principal amount under
the 2021 VA Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i} £107.1 million outstanding principal amount under the 2021
VAT Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In August 2014, we issued an additional £40.0 million principal amount of
2029 VA 5.25% Sierling Senior Secured Notes at 103% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of these
notes were used 1o redeem an equal vutstanding principal amount of 2029 VA1 6.25% Sterling Senior Secured
Notes, In connection with these transactions, we recognised a net loss on debt modification and extinguishment
of £23.2 miMion.

in October 2019, Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited entered into v M Facility N, a $3.300.0 million (£2.48%.1
million) term loan facility. and VA Facility . a €750.0 million {£635.0 million) term loan facility, both issued
at 9975, of par. and Virgin Media Secured Finance Limited issued £400.0 million principal amount of 2030
VAL Sterling Senior Secured Notes au par. The net proceeds from these transactions. together with cenain other
funds. were used to (at prepay in full the $3.400.0 million (£2.563.5 million) outstanding principal amount on
VA1 Facility K and tb) redeem in full (1) $1.000.0 million (£754.0 million} outstanding principal amount of the
2036 VN 32300 Dollar Senior Secured Notes and 12) £300.0 wmillios outstanding principal amount of the 2023
VAL S 125% Sterling Senior Secured Notes. [n connection with these transactions, we recogaised a net loss on
debt moditication and extinguishment of £53.3 million.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Phe group is exposed to velatiliny in 1 cash 1lows and carnings resulting from changes in interest rates and
foreign curteney exchange rates. The group has entered it sarivus derivative instruments with a number of
counterparties to manage this volatilits ot its cash lows and earmings.

Jhe group has entercd into cross-curreney interest e s\w.aps o manage interest rate and foreign exchange rate
carrency eaposures fesulting from ey variable and faed rates of interest pard on dallar denominated debt
ohligations and mosements i far vatlue on certain of 11s U S dollar denominated debt. Additionally . the group
has entered imo interyst rate swaps to manage interest fate exposures resulting from the sariable rates ol interest
paid on sterling denominated debt vbligations and movements in fais value on certain ol its sterling denominated
debt, The group has also entered into ©.5. dollar forward rate contracts o marage foreign exchange rate
currency exposures related o certain committed amd Forecasted purchases. Sev note 21 1o the group tinancial
statemenits for further information on the group’s derivative instruments

i)
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Financial risk management

Details of the financial rishs and how they are managed are outlined in note 20 to the group financial statements,
The principal financial risks faced by the group are credin risk, interest rate risk. foreign exchange rate rish and
liquidity risk.

Principal non-financial risks

Virgin Media Finance PLC is 2 member of the Virgin Media group. which manages the principal non-financial
risks and uncertainties and is headed by Virgin Vedia Inc. These risks. among others. are discussed in more
detail in Virgin Media Inc.’s annual report. The principal non-financial risks include the following:

*  economic and business conditions and industry trends in the United Kingdom (U'K) and {refand:

* 1he competitive environment in the cable television. broadband and wlecommunications industries in the
UK and {reland including competitor responses to our products and services:

+  fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates:

+  instability in global financial markets, including sovereign debt issues in the European Union (EL) and
related fiscal reforms;

»  consumer dispusable income and spending ievels, mcluding the avatlability and amount ol individual
consumer debt:

«  changes in consumer television viewing and broadband internet usage preferences and habits;

»  consumer acceptance of our existing service offerings. including our cable television. broadband internet.
fixed-line telephony and mobile and business service offerings. and of new technology. programming
alternatives and other products and services that we may offer in the future:

+  the group’s ability to manage rapid technological changes:

»  the group’s ability to maintain or increase the number of subscriptions 1o our cable television. broadband
internet. fixed-line telephony and mobile service offerings and our average revenue per household:

« the group's ability to provide satisfactory customer service. including support for new and evolving
products and services;

+  the group's abiliey 10 maintain or increase rates 10 our subscribers or to pass through increased costs to our
subscribers:

< the impact of the group’s future financial performance. or market conditions generalts. on the availability,
terms and deplovment of capilal:

= changes in. or Railure or inabilits o comply with. government regulations in the UK and ireland and adverse
outcomes from regulatory proceedings:

»  government intervention that impairs the group’s competitive position. including any iniervention 1hat
would open the group’s breadband distribution netorks w competitors and any adverse change in the
sroup’s geereditations ot licenses:

«  the group’s ability o obtain regulators approval and satisfy other conditions necessary 10 close acquisitions
and dispositions, and the impact of conditions imposed by competition and other regulatory authorities in
connection with acquisitions:

+  the group’s ability to successfully aequire new businesses and. it acquired. w integrate, reslise anticipated
efficiencigs from. and implement our business plan with respect to. the businesses we have acguired or that
we expect [0 acquire:

»  changes in laws or treaties relating to tavation. or the interpretation thereotl in the UK and Irefand:
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

< changes in laws and government regulations that may impact the availability and cost of capital and the
derivative instruments that hedge cenain of the group’s financial rishs:

< our ability 1o navigate the potential impacts on our busingss of the UK’s departure from the EUL;

+  the ability of suppliers and vendors (including our third-parts wireless network providers under the group™s
AMVNO arrangements | to timely deliver guality products. equipment. software. services and access:

«  the availability of attractive programming lor our video services and the costs associated with such
proyramming;

< uncertainties inherent in the development and integration of new business lines and business strategies:

»  the group’s ability to adequately forecast and plan fulure network requirements. including the costs and
benefits associated with the Network Extension;

+ the a
service

Tability of capital for the acquisiion and or development of telecommunications networks and

«  problems the group may discover post-closing with the operations. including the internal controls and
Bauncial reporiing process, businesses we acyure.

«  leahage of sensitive customer data:

= the outcome ofany pending or threatencd litigation:

«  the loss of key employees and the availability of qualified personnel:

+  changes in the nature of hey strategic relationships with partners and joint venturers:

»  adverse chamges in public perception of the “Virgin™ brand, which we and others license from Virgin
Enterprises |imited. and any resulting impacts on the goodwill of customers 1oward the group: and

» events thar are ouside of the group’s conirol, such as political unrest in intemational marhets, lemorist
attacks. malicious human acts, natural disasters, pandemics or epidemics (such as the coronavirus (COVID-
19}y and other similar events.

Brexit

{he U K> departure from the L could have a material adverse effect an our business. financial condition.
results of operations or liquidiny. On 23 Jure 2014, the UK held a referendum in which voters approved. on an
advisory basis, an exit from the T1 . commoenhy referred to as “Brexit”

lhe UK formally exited the EL on 31 Januan 2026, and has now entered into @ transition period until 31
Decemnber 2024, daring which the UK and the EU will negotiaie to tormalise the future UK-EU relationship with
respect to a number of matters, most notably - trade. Although the UK has ceased to be an BEU member. during
the transition period their trading relationship will remain the same and the UK wilt continue 1o follow the EL ™5
rules. such as accepting rulings from the European Court of Justice, and the L K will continue to contribute to the
FL s budget.

t neertainty remains as o what spectfic tenms of separation may be agreed during the transition period. It is
nossible that the Uk will fail 1o agree 1o specific separation terms with the EU' by the end of the wramition
period. which. absent estension. may reguine the UK 1o deave the 11 under a so-called “hard Brexit™ or “no-deal
Breait™ without specilic agregments on trade. finance and other hev elements.
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PRINCEIPAL RISKS AND L NCERTAINTIES (continued)

The foregoing has caused considerable uncenainty as to Breait’s impact on the free movement of goods.
services, people and capital between the UK and the EL. customer behaviour. economic conditions. interest
rates, currency exchange rates. and availabiliny of capital. Examples of the potential impact Brexit couid have on
Liberty Globa! group's business. financial condition or results of operations include:

changes in foreign currency exchange rates and disruptions in the capital markets:

shortages of labour necessary to conduct our business, including our “etwork Extension in the Uk

disruption to our UK supply chain and related increased cost of supplies;

a weahened UK economy resulting in decreased consumer demand for our products and services in the

Uk

e legal uncertainty and potentially divergem national laws and regulations as the UK determines which
EL' laws and directives 1o replace or replicate. or where previousls implemented by enactment of UK
taws or regulations, to retain. amend or repeal; and

* various geopolitical forces may impact the global economy and our business, including. for exampte,

other ELJ member states (in particular those member states where we have operations) proposing

referendums to. or electing to, exit the EU.

COvVID-19

In Mlarch 2020. the World Health Organisation declared the recent outbreak ot a novel strain of coronavirus
{COVID-19) o be a global pandemic. in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
imposed by povernments worldwide, including travel restrictions. restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses. .

These measures have adversely impacted the global economy. disrupted global supply chains and created
sipnificant volatility and disruption of financial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse econemic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken to contain or mitigate its outbreak, an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and results of operations in
fuware periods.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Pending joint venture transaction

On 7 Nay 2020. Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with. among others. Telefunica. SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement. Liberts Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 50:50 joint venture,
which will combine Virgin Media’s operations in the LK with Telefonica’s mobile business tn the LK 10 create
4 pationwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this transaction is subject to cenain conditions, including competition clearance by the
applicable regulatory authorities. 11 is anticipated that the transaction will close arcund the middle of 2021. The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights. including o right of the parties to lerminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within vwenty -four menths following the date of the agreement.
which may be extended by six months under certain circumstances.

Financing trunsactions

In May 2020, Virgin Media Trade Receivables Financing ple. a third-party special purpose financing entity, was
vreated for the purpose of facilitaling the offering of centain notes. These notes are collateralised by vertain trade
receivables of Virgin Vedia. creating a variable interest in which Virgin Media is the primary bencficiary and.
aceordinghy. Virgin Media, and ultimately Uiberty Global. arc required 10 vonsolidate Virgin Media Frade
Receivables Financing ple. The offering of these notes resulted in net proceeds of £214.4 miilion.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (continued)
In June 2020. Virgin Media completed various financing transactions. as further described below.
Senior notes transactions

The group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. Fhe net proceeds. together with the
May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in tull €460 million and $388.7 million outstanding principal amount of
2023 senior noles.

The group issued an additional 2030 senior notes wilh principal amounts of $254 miflion €500 miflion. The net
progeeds from the issuance of these notes were used (13 1o redeem in full $497 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senjor notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 mullion outstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and 12 for general corperale purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing secured notes and subject 10 certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.

Senijor secured notes transactions

I he group issued 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of $635(0 million and €450 mitlion. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (13 0 redeem i Full £523 milion outstanding principal
anouits ol existing 2027 senior seeured nutes, 123 1 cedeein in full £360 million vutstanding principal amouris
uf existing 2029 senior secured notes, ¢ 3 £8G.G midlion of the £321.3 million vuetstanding principal amount of

existing 2025 senior secured notes.

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing senior sceured notes and senior secured
credit facility, and subject to cenain exceptions. share in the same guaraniees and security granted in favour of
its existing senior secured notes,

Vendor financing notes transactions

Virgin Vledia Vendor Financing Notes H Designated Activinn Company (Virgin Media Financing 111 Company )
and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes 1V Designated Agtivity Company (Virgin Media Financing 1V
Company, and together with Virgin Media Financing 111 Company, the 2020 v\ Financing Companies) were
created tor the purpose of issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VA Financing Companies are third-
party special purpose financing entities that are not consolidated by Virgin Media or Liberty Globat,

Virgin Meda Financing HI Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of £500 million and
£400 million. Virgin Media Financing [V Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of
$3500 milljon. The net proceeds from the lupe 2020 Vendor Financing Notes were used by the 2020 A\
Financing Companies to purchase certain vendor-tinanced receivables of Virgin Media and its subsidiaries fram
previously -existing third-pary special purpose linancing entities (the original MM financing Companies) and
various other third panies.

FUT{ RE OUTLOOK

The directors will continue o review management policies in fight of changing truding and market conditions.
Further detail of the tuture outook of the group. is provided in Virgin Nedia locs financial statements and
amauat report for 2009 which are avadable from the compams secretary at Virgin MMedia. 500 Brook Drive.
Reading, United Kingdom. RG2 6L U and on [ ibery Global™s website b wsw liberts global.com.

SECTION 172 8 TATEMENT

This statement is intended (o disclose how vur directors have approached and met their respomibilities under
5172 Companics Act 2006,

in lime with [ibenty Glabal's yeal of enhancing the fong-term salue for the bhenefit of its sharcholders. the

directors of the Virgin Media eversee the management of the proup. te help assure that the interests of vur
sharcholders are served.

10



Yirgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
fot the vear ended 31 December 2019

SECTION 172 STATEMENT (continued)

The directors of the group. apply the Corporate Governance Guidelines (page |5). essential to our business
integrity and performance. Therefore. as part of group operations as a whole consider.

¢  long-term consequenves of decisions;

s cmployees interests:

s business relationships with supptiers and customers;

e 1he impact of our pperations on the envirenment and communities in which we operate: and

s the need to act fairly between shareholders.

The level of engagement of the directors is critical in the group's successful investment in the infrastructure and
platforms that empower our customers to make the most of the digital revolution and connect to the
entertainment, experiences and people they love. We believe that our scale and synergies with our partners help
bring the best connectivity and entertainment to our customers and, during 2019, the directors provided
thoughtful puidance to ensure that we enhanced and expanded our networks wisely. investing with purpose in
the technology. wlent and territories with the most polential.

Customers/Parinerships — Virgin Media provides its customers with a leading. ncxt-generation broadband
senvice. one of the most advanced interactive television services available in the UK and Irish markets and
mobile services. We believe our relationships with our partners help us deliver unique products and services io
our customers. The continued sirategic involvement by the directors in these decisions 10 help foster these
reiationships is ctitical W the group’s long lenm success.

Responsibility ~ Community & Envirenment — As part of Virgin Media's strategy, we are committed to
growing a respansible and sustainable business. Our vision of using digital to make good things happen focuses
on two pillars; growing responsibiy and sustainably and doing more good with digital. As outlined in the
Directors™ Report, we have outlined five sustainability goals to ensure that our growth and contribution (o the
UK is delivered in a way that’s good for people and the environment.

People - At Virgin Media. we know building an inclusive environment is essential 1o our growth. We're working
on building a fully inclusive culture. celebrating everybody's individuality and differences. We want to empower
aur people. so they feel valued. limitless and inspired to help build meaningful connections. The Directors’
Report provides further information on Virgin Media's policy on employment and disabled employees.
Consideration of these factors and other relevant matters is embedded into all Virgin Media group decision-
making, strategy development and rish assessment throughout the year. Further information is available on our
website; https: ‘www_virginmedia.com'corporate sustainability.

On behalf of the board

Caned D

R G vieNeil
Dirgetor

28 September 2620



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Dircctors' Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the group and company for the year
ended 31 December X1 9.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

I'he group made a profit for the year. alier tax. of £577 1 million (2018: £384.6 milliony The directors have not
recommended the pas ment of a dividend (2618: £nil .

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The dirzctors whe served during the s ear and thereafier were as follows:

W T Castell tappointed 9 September 2019, resigned 9 March 2020y

R 1 Dunn (resigned 9 September 2019

M T Fries

MO Hifzi

R G MeNeil cappointed 9 Vlarch 202t

T Mockridge tresigned 11 June 20193

A C Murray (appointed 18 Juby 2019, resigned § August 20093

S-P Paseu fappointed 3 March 20204

C B E Withers tappointed 23 April 2020)

[ he directors of the company have been indemnified against liabifity in respect of procecdings brought by third
parties. subject to the conditions set vui in the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third party indemnity

provision is in force for directors serving during the financial vear and as at the date of approving the Directors
Report,

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES

The group remains committed to the continuing introduction and practice ol progressise employ ment poficies
which reflect changing business. sovial and employee needs.

[ he group aims to ensurc that everyone connected ta it is treated fairly and equally . whether they are a current or
former member of staff. job applicant. customer or supplier.

Nobody should be discriminated against. cither directly or indirectly, on the grounds of wender, gender
reassignment. marital status. pregnancy. race. ethnic origin. colour, nationality . national origin, disability . sexual
otientation, religion or belicl. age. political affiliation or trade union membership. The polics applies to any one
who works for. who has worked for or who applies 10 work for Virgin Media or its partners. That means
permanent, empaorany. casual or part-lime statt. anyone on 4 fixed-term conrract. agency statt and consuftams
working with the group. ex-emploxees and people applying for jobs. This applies to all aspects of employment.
including rectitment and trafning.

1he group gives tull consideration 1o applications trom employ ees with disabilities where they can adequately
fulfil the requirements of the job. Depending on their skills and abilitics. cmiplosees with a disabilits have the
samw opportwhities for promotion, carcer deselopment and traiping as other emplosves. Where eNisting
employees become disabled. it is the group’s policy to provide continuing employ ment whereser practicabie in
the same o an alternative position and o provide appropriste training w avhicye this aim.

In fine with Liberty Giobal's “Code ot Business Conduct”, the group’s employees and directors are expected to
display responsible and ethicat behuviour. 1o [ellow comsistently both the measning and intent of this Code and to
act with integrity in all of the group’s business dealings  Managees and supersyisors are expected o tahe such
UCHIOTE &S T% Necessary and appropriate to ensure that the group’s business processes and practices are in full
compliance with the Code,



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors' Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOY EES (continued)

Employee Involvement

The Virgin Media group is dedicated 10 increasing the practical involvement of individuals in the running of its

business.

ftseeks to achieve this as folfows:

all employecs are encouraged to understand the aims of the Virgin Media group and of their own
business area and 1o contribute Lo improving business performance through their knowledge,
experience. ideas and suggestions. This requires strong communication to ensure that empioyees are
bricfed as widely as possible about activities and developments across Virgin Media, The online news
channel, open forums, newsletiers and team meetings play important rules in this, as do the
develapment of people management skilis and the ongom!, conversations about perrormame and
development which underpin mid-year and year-end reviews:

the Virgin Media group ensures that all employees are involved and consubied through ~Voice™ which
operales at a national. divisional and local level. [t enables employees and employers to have an open
and transparent relationship with a flow of information. It is focused around sharing information.
involving employces in decision making, gaining access 1o knowledge and experience or resolving
differences of opinion. Involving emplovees in decision making enhances confidence and job
satisfaction, creates a sense of belonging and empowerment. reduves stress and impacts positively on
wellbeing.

The Virgin Media group fosters a team spirit among employees and their greater involvement by offering
participation in bonus or local variable reward schemes and team development opportunities Virgin Mledia alse
operates various recognition schemes which are designed to reward employvees for behaviours which are
consistent with the Virgin Media valucs and has a volumeering scheme which allows emplovees to take a day
each year 0 volunteer with a charity or organisation of their choice. The group remains committed to the
continuing introduction and practice of progressive employment policies which reflect changing business. social
and employee needs.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors' Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SEUNTAINABILITY POLICIES

Virgin Media is committed to growing a responsible and sustainable business. 1his means ensuring that owr
growth and contribution to the UK is delivered in 2 way that’s good for people and 1he environment,

o 2013, we set five sustainability goals to:
e Create opportunities for 10000 small businesses to grow in the L K 's economy through digital:
s lmprove the sustaigabilin perfurmance of every aew product:
e Grow our business without increasing our carbon footprint:
s Nurture an engaged work force witich represents the diversity of our customers and communities, and

e Suppost one million disabled people with the skifls and confidence to get into and stay in work by the
end of 2020.

The first tour goals form part of our *3 in 57 sustaiability goals and our vverall “Digital for Good® strategy
which concluded in 2019. The last goal. to support a millian disabled people. wilt rum wntil the end of 2020,

tach goal is owned by o member ol the Virgin Media fxecutive ( ommittee and we have a dedicated
Sustainability team which facilitates and communicates our progress to becoming a more sustainable busimess.

We're pleased to say that we made positive progress againstall our five poals last year.

While urowing our business. we continued to cut our operational carbon footprint (Scope 1 and 2) with a
reduction of 459 since 2014 across LK and Ireland. For the first time we sourced 1060%e of our conpacted
electrivity from renewable sources. We also made significant strides lowards our zero office waste t landfill
1argel. with only 3% going to landfill compared 10 10°%5 in 2018,

Scope’s Support to Work employment programme. funded by Virgin Media. helped thousands of disabled
jobscehers last year. hore than 540,000 disubled people were provided with advice. skills and confidence to
find the right job for them via the scheme’s seif-service and tailored programmes.

We're now in the process of developing a new strategy and a set of lonyg term susiainability targets which align
10 the hey material issues as identified by our people. customers and the communities we serve. This will be
published later in 2020,

Virgin Media communicates updates on performance and hey highlights through its dedicated sustainability
website: www virginmedia.com sustainability.

GOING CONCERN

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indirect parent of all of the trading companies in the Virgin
Media group. these consolidated financial statements include substamially all of the 1rade and assets of the
overall Virgia Media group. Whilst Forecasts and projections, which take account of reasondabls possible changes
in trading performance. have not been prepared a1 a Virgin Media Finance PLC group Jesel they hase been
prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. These torecasts and projections showed that cash on hand.
together with cash from operations and the undrawn revoljng eredit favility L are expected o be sulficient for the
Virgin Nedia group's and hence the gronp's cash requirements through to at keast 12 months front she dae off
this report.

I'aking into account these forecasts and projections and after making enguiries. the directors have o reasonable
enpectation the group has adeguate support and resources fo continue inoperationak existence fur the foresceabie
future.

For these reasons the directors cortinue 10 adopt the oty concern basis in preparing these financial statements,
Corvideration of the potential impact of COVID-19 has pot altered this conclusion,
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’® Report
for the vear ended 3 December 2019

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The group is committed to conducting business with horiesty, integrity und respect. Corporate governance affects
the way the proup directs its relationship with its stakeholders. The group believes that the highest standards of
corporzle govemance are essential to the group’s business integrity and performance. The group has adopted a
number of policies and procedures to support solid corporate governance in every area of the group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Guidelines adopted by the Liberty Global Board of Directors serve as a framework for
Board governance over the affairs of the group for the benefit of its shareholders. These include Code of
Business Conduct. Code of Ethics, Audit Committee Charter. Compensation Committee Charter. Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee Charter and Succession Planning Committee Chaner.

Further information on Corporate Governance is available to the public on Liberty Glebal's website at
www._libertyglobal.com.or under the heading “Corporate Responsibility”. The intormation on the website is not
part of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR

So far as each person who was a director al the date of approving this report is aware. there is no relevant audit
information, being information required by the auditor in connection with preparing its report, of which the
auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and the group's auditor, each director has taken

all the steps that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order to make himself herselt aware of any relevant
audit information and o estabhish that the auditor is aware ot that informanon.

AUDITOR

KPMG LLP will be re-appointed under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

Signed on behalf of the board of directors

/

C B E Withers
Director

Approved by the directors on 18 September 2020

T



Virgin Media Finance PLC

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilitics in respect of the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report
and Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2019

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report. the Directors” Report and the group und parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors 1o prepare group and parent company financial stalements for each financial
vear. Under that law they have elecied to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards as adepted by the European Union (1IFRSs as adopted by the CU') and applicable
law and have vlected to prepare the paremt company financial statements in accordance with LK accounting
standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accoumting Practiced. including FRS [0] Reduced
Disclosure Framewark.

Linder company law the direclors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of atfairs of the proup und parent company and of eheir protit or loss for that
period. In preparing ¢ach of the group and parem company financial statements. the directors are required to:

s select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
*  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable. relevant, reliable and prudent

*  for the group financial statements. state whether they have been prepared in accordance with 1FRSs as
adopted by the EL:

& for the parent company financial statements. state whether applicable L K accounting standards have been
followed. subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements:

*  assess the group and parent compans s ability 10 continue as a going concern. disclosing. as applicable.
matters related to going concern: and

e use the puing concern basis of accounting uniess they cither intend 1o liquidate the group or the parent
vompany or to cease uperations. ur have no realistic alermative but 1o do so.

Fhe dirsctors are responsibie for keeping adeguate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent company s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the finanvial position of the
parent compans and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companics Act 2006,
They are rcsponsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary 10 enable the preparation of
financial statements that are Free Itom material misstatement, whether due to faud or error. and have generaf
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open 10 them to safeguard the assets of the group and o
prevent and detect fraud and other irregalarities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC
1 Qrur opinion is nnmodified

W e have andited the financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC (“the Company ™3 for the year ended 31
December 2019 which comprise the group income statement and statement of comprehensive income. group
balance sheel. group statement of changes in equity. group cash flow statement. company balance sheet.
company stalement of changes in equity and the related notes. including the accounting poficies in note 2 of the
group financial statements and note 1 of the company financial statements.

In our opinion:

s the financial slatements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company's
aftairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended.

o the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the Furopean Union;

s the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with L K accounting
standards, including FRS 10} Reduced Disclosure Framew ork: and

e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006,

Bunis for opinjon

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (U'K) (715As5 (UK)7y and
applicable law, Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under.
and are independent of the Group in accordance with. UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standurd as applied to listed entities. We befieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.

2 Key andit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that. in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misslatement (whether or not
due to fraud) identified by ws. including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
altocation of resources in the audit; and directing the effonts of the engagement team. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In arriving a1 our audit opinion above. the key audit
marters. in decreasing order of audit significance, were as follows:

Group: Capitalisation of costs associated with construction and installation activities

Fhe Rish _ Oversiatement of Profils

Capitalisation of both internal and external costs incurred (part of which is included in the net book value of
plant. property and equipment of £6.099.9 m t2018: £5.423.0 m)) assoviated with the capial projects undertaken
by the group involve estimation of the amount of time and costs that should be capitalised The most significant
risk is Uhat the group may inappropriately capitalise construction and installation costs. The key risks in
detesmining if construction and installation costs qualify for recognition as an asset. include whether the costs
are directly attributable to bringing the asset (o the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
aperating in the manner intended by the group: it is probable that future ceconomic benefits assoviated with the
item will flow (o the group. and i the cost can be measured refiably.

1 he effect of these matiers is that, as part of our risk assessment. we determined that carry ing amount of
Network assels of £5.504,1m has a high degree of estimation uncertainty . with a potential range of reasonable
sutcomes grester than our materialia for the financial staterents as a whole,and possibly many times that
amuount,



{ndependent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

Chur Reapromse
Our procedures included:

Controd aperations - We evaluated the design. implementation and tested operating effectivencss of hey internal
controls in place used for identifying which construction and installation costs shouid be capitalised.

Porconned inferviews - We challenged the amount of internal costs capitatised during the vear by comparing to
budgets. interviewing department heads to determine the level of time individuals have spent on capital items.
and analy sed the vhanges to signifivant estimates utifised by the group (o determine the amount of internal costs
tor be capitalised (if any 1. and other changes in the business with a potential impact un cost capitalisation during
the year.

feses of detaifs - For both internal and external costs capitalised we selected a sample of plant, propery and
equipment additions on costs capitalised and assessed the nature of the costs thereby assessing the
appropriateness of the group’s cost capitlisation conclusions.

Parent Company: Recoverability of the Company's investmeats in subsidiaries

Fhwe rivk  fow risk frigh vatfue

The varnying amount ol the Company s investments in subsidiaries of £4.699.4 m2018: £4.699.4 m) represents
62.6%0 of the company s total assets. The recoverability is not at a high risk of sigaificant misstatement vy
sphjecl to significant judgement. However, due 1o their materiality in the context of the finuncial statements. this
is vonsidered to be the area that had the greatest effect on our overall audit of the parenmt company.

{yr respanse
Our procedures included:

fests of detutd We compared the carry ing amount of material investments swith the relevant subsidiaries” balance
sheet 1o identify whether their net assets. being an approximation of their minimum recoverable amount. were in
eavess of their carrving amount and assessing whether those subsidiaries have historically been protit-making.

LLsvessing subsidiary audits We assessed the work performed by the subsidiary audit teaims of those subsidiaries
where audits are performed and considering the results of that work on those subsidiaries” profits and net assets.

3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit

Mlateriality for the group financial statements as a whole was set at £51.6n 1 2018: £51m). determined with
reference W a beachmark of reveaue of £3.163m. of which it represents 1.0% (2018: 1%

Materiality tor the parent Company financial staterments as & whole was set at £51.000.000 ¢ 201 8: £46.000.000),
determined with reference to i benchmark of Company total assets. of which it represents O 8201 2008: 0.7%0).

We agreed 10 report 10 management any corrected or uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding
£2.500.000. in addition 1o ather identified misstalements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds

| he group's reporting components comprise the UK and Ireland. we subjected the LK componcent to a full seope
audit for group purposes and the krish component (o specified risk-focused audit procedures 1 he latter was not
indrvidually tiaancially signiticant erough 1o require a ] scope audit for group purposcs. bat did present
specilic indiy idual rishs that needed 1o e addressed.

4 We have nothing to report on going concern’

Lhe Directors have prepared the financial staterments on the going concern basis as they do not intend 1o
hquidate the Company or the Group or 1o cease their operations, and as they hasve concluded that the Company s
and the Group's financial position means that this is reafistic. They have also vonciuded that there are no
material yncertainties that could have cast signiticant doubt over their ability to continue us a going concern for
al least a year fram the date of approval of the finuncial statements (the geing concern perod™.
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Qur responsibility is to conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ conclusions and. had there been a
material uncertainty related to going concern. 10 mabke reference to that in this audit report. However, as we
vannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference o a
material uncertainty in this auditor's repon is not a guarantee that the group or the company will continue in
operation.

in vur evaluation of the Directors’ conclusions. we considered the inherent risks to the Group™s and Company 's
business model. including the impact of Brexit. and analysed how those risks might affect the Group's and
Company s financial resources or ability 10 continue operations over the going concern period. We evaluated
those risks and concluded that they were not significant enough to require us to perform additional audit
provedures

Based on this work. we are required 10 report to you il we have concluded that the use of the geing concemn basis
of accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisciosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over
the use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial stalements.

W e have nothing to report in these respects, and we did not identify going concern as a key audit matter.
5 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and. accordingly. we
du not express an audit opimion o, except as explivitly stated below, any form of assurance conciusion thereon.

Our responsibility 15 1o read the other information and. in doing so. consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work. the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistemt with the financial
statements or our audit knowledge, Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in
the other information:

Strategic report and directors’ report

Based solely on our work on the other information:

¢ we have not ideatified material misstatements in the straiegic report and the directors” report.

« in our opinion the information given in those teports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

= inour opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

6 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required 10 report to you il in our opinion:

o adequate accounting records have not been hept by the parent Company. or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us: or

e the parent Compamy financial statements are not in agrecment with the accounting records and refurns: or

s certain disclosures of directors” remuneration specified by law are not made. or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

W have nothing to report in these respects.
7 Respective responsibilities

Directors” responsibilities

A3 explained more fully in their statement set out on page | 6. the directors are responsible for: the preparation ol
the financial statements ircluding being satistied that they give a true and fair view: such iniernal control as they
determine is necessary to gnable the preparation of financial statements that are free trom material missiatement,
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Compam ‘s ability to continue as a goinyg concern.
disclusing, as applicable, matters related to going concern: and using the going voncern hasis ol accounting
unless they cither intend o liquidate the Group or the parent Compam or (0 cease operations. or have no realistic
aliernative but to do so.

19



Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

Awditor™s responsibilities

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assuranee about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
tfrom muterial misstatement, whether due 1o frauwd or error, and o issue our opinion in an auditor's report.
Reasonable assurance s a high level of assurance. but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with I1ISAs (UK will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Missiatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate. they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users tahen on the basis of the financial staterents.

A fuller  description  of  our  responsibijities  is  provided on  the  FRETs website
www fre.org.uk auditorsresponsibilities.

3 The purpose of our andit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

[ his report is made solely to the Company ‘s members. as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company 's members
those matters we are required to state 1o them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose, 1o the Fullest
extent permiatted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 10 anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members. as a body, for our audit work. for this report, or for the opiaions we have lormed,

Kiggetros~

hatharine L.'Estrange (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Aunditor
¢ hartercd lcceuntumy
1 Sovereign Syuare
Sovercign Street
{.eeds
LS1ADA
2_? Seprember 2020
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes
Revenue 3
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Administralive expenses
Growp operating profit 14
Finance income 7
Finance costs g
Net flinance costs
Profit before tax
Tax expense 9
Profit for the year
Other Compreheasive Income
fiems that witl not be reclussigied 1o profit or losy
Avctuarial {losses}  pains on defined benefit pension plans 27
Tax on defined benefit pension plans 9
ftems that will or may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Impact of movements in cash flow hedges 21

LCxchange differences on the retranslation of foreigm operations
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity
holders

Total comprehensiy e income atiributable to:

Owners of the parent
Son-controlling interests

[ he notes on pages 23 o 75 [oma pant of the inancial statements.

All results refate to continuing aperations.

2089 2018

£ million £ million
5168.1 51503
11,708.0} (1.621.5)
146001 35288
{2381 3 (2.800.2)
10788 7286
487.4 7537
860 (10089
1398.7) (2552}
680.1 1734
(103.0) 188.8)
$77.1 1846
t7.2) 8.5
1.0 (B4

(6.2) 7.1

54 57

18.2 6.4
236 12,1
594.5 403.8
5758 396.0
18.7 7.8

594 5 103.8




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Balance Sheet
as ut 31 December 2019

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property. plant and equipment
Financial assets

T'rade and other receivables
Deferred rax assets

Defined bentefit pension plan asset

Current assets

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Cash and short term deposits

Total ussets

Current liabilities

I rade and other pavables
Financial liahilities
Provisions

Noun-current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Financial liabilities

Provisions

Defined benetit pension plan tiability

Taotal lisbilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves

[.quity share capital

Share premiam account

Other capital reserves

U nreslised gains and losses

Foreign curreney translation reserve

Retained carnings

Virgin Mediu Finance P1LC group sharcholders' equity
Non-congrofling interests

Fotal equity

The notes on pages 25 1o 75 torm part ol the finanvial statements.

Notes

hit

10

12

.
K]

14
s

6
17
19

17
19
27

224

24
24
24
4

31 December 31 December
2019 018
£ miltion £ million
2443 2.561.2
06.098.4) 342301
542249 5.587.9
363 374
5442 1.645.3
864 89.7
1536221 15,3446
823 143.1
65309 6285
6 60.7
kR 16.2
821.9 848.5
16.454.0 16,193.1
15919y (1663 0y
(2.031.5 20130
13.6) (5.5)
i{3,626.8) (3.681.6)
126.5) [RLR.3]
(10.463.5) (10,732.5)
124 (1239
7.9 7.5

L6231

{10,901.0)

(14.249.9 (14,582 6%
22041 I
0.1 IN ]
6259 6259
§2.003.6) (2.000_1
0.7 53
293 1.1
35728 3.027.0
ENF R 15703
8.9 q0.2
o040 L6105

[hese finangial staternents were approved by die directors on 28 Septemsber 2020 and ate signed on their behalf

R G McNeid
Director
Company Registration Number: 05061787
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Operating activities
Profit for the year

ldinvtmens b reconcile profis i the vear atiributable 1o coieiiy
hotders of the parent to act cavh mflow from operating activiies
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of network assets
Net finance vosts
Sharc-hased payments
Income 1axes
Gains on disposal of property. plant and cquipment
I 'nrealised losses{ gains) on derivative instruments
Non-cash foreign exchange movements
Decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease {increase) in inventories
(Decreaseyincrease in prepayments and other assels
Decrease in trade and other pay ables
ingrease in accruals, deferred income and other current liabilities
Increase tdeerease ) in deferred income and other lung werm lLabilities
[Jecrease in provisions
Net cash inflow provided by continuing operating activities

et cash inflow from operating activities

lavesting activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
L.oans {10) repayment from parent and group undertakings
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition net of cash acquired

Change in restricted cash

Interest received

Net cash outBlow from investing activities

Finuncing activities

Interest paid

Settlement of Cross currency interest rate Swips
“ew borrowings. net of financing fees
Repayment ot borrowings

Capital lease payments

“et cash outflow from financing activities

Iftect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Netincrease/tifecrease) in cash und cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivatents at 1 tanuany
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

1 he notes on pages 23 w75 [orm pant of the Ananciat statements,

2019 2018

Notes £ million £ million
5771 3846

11 1.046.7 1.036.9
{0 1231 185.8
(464.6) -

S48.2 4523

451 272

1227 83.%
£3.3) (2.3)
1802.0 1301.4)

113093 3320

167 4 143.5
6. (8.1H

119.6) 48.2
(21 16.5)

216008 2484
lo.1 142,53
10.2) (24.00

1.887.5 22034

24646 2.588.0
1428.1) 4318

i444.9) 1.3

22 34
- {3.h
116.5) (5.5}

2842 3138

6031 {22.8)

1619.7) 1641.2)

8§74 75.1

RAV NN 1.921.3

(3.247.1) (39159

48,3 (1.,

(1.842.5) (2,575

.5 (0.5

77 16.49)

N te.2 231
15 339 [




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financisl Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 September 2020 and the Group Balance Sheet was signed
on the board’s behatf by R G McNeil. Viegin Media Finance PLC is a public limited company incorporated and
domiviled in the UK. The company s shares are not publicly traded although the Senior Notes issued by the
vampany are registered on the Luxembourg Stoch Exchange.

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted by the group are set out below and have all been applicd consistently
throughout the current year and the preceding year except as discussed below.

Basis of preparation

Notwithstanding net current lizbilities of £2.804.9 million and net liabilities £2.608.3 million as at 3| December
2019 for the Group and Company respectively and a profit for the Group for the year of £577.1 million. the
financial statements have been approved on the assumption that the group remains a going concern. The
following paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion.

It is Virgin Mledia’s practice for operational and financial management (o be undertaken at a group level rather
than for individual entities that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for
alf uf Liberty Global's wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As part of
normal business practice. regular cash flow forecasts for both short and tong term commitments are undertaken
2l proup level,

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indirect parent of substamially all of the trading companies in
the Virgin Media group. these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the rade and assets
of the overall Virgia Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections, which take account of reasonably possible
changes in trading performance, have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level, they have
been prepared for the Virgin Medra group as a whole, These indicate that cash on hand. together with cash from
operations. repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn revolving
credit tacilities, are expected to be sufficient for the Group’s cash requirements through to at least 12 months
from the approval of these financial statements.

Whilst the detafled cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group fevel. the directors have also assessed the
position of the company. MNotwithstanding net liabilities of £2.608.3 million as at 31 December 2019, this
assessment indicates that. taking account of reasonably possible downsides. the company will have sufficient
resources. through funding from fellow subsidiary companies to meet its liabilitics as they fall due for that
period.

As with any company placing reltance on other group entities lor financial support, the directors acknowledge
that there can be no certainty that this suppon will continue afthough. at the date of approval of these linancial
statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not de so. Consequently. the directors are confident that
the Company will have sulficient funds 10 continue (o meet its liabilities as they fall due for at feast {2 months
from the date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. Consideration of the potential inpact oF COVID-19 has not altered this conclusion.

Variahle interest entities

On 30 November 2018, in connection with cenain Liberty Global group reorganisattons, the group completed
the transter of Liberts Property Holdeo | Limited and Liberty Property Holdeo Bl Limited from the group to
Liberty Property Holdeo H Limited. another subsidiary of Libecty Global group outside ot Virgin AMledia group.
Liberty Property Holdeo | Limited, Liberty Property Holdeo fI Limited and Liberty Properts ioldeo HI are
collectively reterred o as “the Liberty Property Companies.” The assers held by the Liberts Property
Companics are used by the group creating a variable interest in the Libersy Property Companies tor which the
group is the primary beaeficiany and. accordingly. the group is required to consolidate the | iberty Property
Companies.

[ 2]
)



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statemeots
for the yvear ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

New dards, i wnd interpretati topted by the group

The following standards and interpretations have been issued with an effective date for accounting periods
heginning after the date of these financial statements:

tn January 2016, IFRS 16, Leases 11FRS 16). was issped which results iy Jussees recopnising right-of-use
{ROU ) assels and fease liabilities on the statement of financial position with additional disclosures about Jeusing
arrangements. IFRS 16 also eliminates the classification of leases as ¢ither operating leases or finance leases by
a lessee. he main impacts of the adoption of this standard are (i) the recognition o ROU and lease liabilities in
our vonselidated statement of financial position for leases previously accounted for as operating leases and (i)
the replacement of operiting lease cxpense with a depreciation charge for ROU assets and interest expense for
lease liabilities.

This change results in a font-loaded total lease expense versus the previous straight-line operating lease
eXpense.

The group adopted IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019 by using the modified retrospective approach. The group
applied the following practical expedients and options:

» In transition, the proup did rot reassess which existing contracts are or contain leases. [n addition, we
didd not use hindsight during transition:

*  The eroup did not apply the practical expedient that permies i lessee 1 account for lease and non-lease
components in a contract as a single lease componment and. accordingly. the group will continue to
accoum for these components separately :

e The group did not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of 12 months
or fess; and

+  The proup applied 4 single discount rate to a porttolio of leases with reasonably similar characieristics.

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, on January |. 2019 the group recorded ROLU assets of £201 millivn and lease
liabilities of £204 million, There was no impact 10 the group’s retained earnings. 1he adoption of IFRS 16 did
not have a signpiticant impact on the consolidated statements of profit or lass or cash flows,

£000
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at
31 December 2018 167.878
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at | lanuary 2019 138.100
Add: finance lease liabilities recopnised as at 31 December 2018 66.049
(Lessk short-term leases not recognised us a Habilin 17
L.ease liability recognised as at | January 2019 204,332
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
far the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that atfect the
amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues
and expenses during the vear. The nature of ¢stimation means that actual outcomes could differ trom those
estimates.

The most significant judgments and estimations used by management in the process of applying the group's
accounting policies are discussed below:

Impairment of imtangible assels
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are assessed for impairment annually and when such
indicators exist.

When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order 1o calculate the present value of
these cash flows. Where (air value less cost 1o sell is used. the valuation must eepresent the fair value of the
cash-generating unit in an orderly transaction between market participants under current market conditions, less
costs to sell.

Deferred fax usiels .

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and allowances to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that cun be recognised. based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Details of the measurement of the group’s deferred tax asset recognition and measurement are provided in note
9.

Properny. plant and equipment

Depreciation is pravided on all property, plant and equipment, other than freehold tand. on a straight-line basis
at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated useful
life. Useful fives are reviewed annually and where adjustments are required. these are made prospectively.

The nature and amount of {abour and other costs to be capitalised with respect Lo construction and installation
activities involves significant judgement. In addition to direct external and intemal labour and materials. the
group also capitalises vther costs directly attributable o the group’s vonstruction and installation activities,
including dispatch costs. quality-contrul costs. vehicie-related costs and cenain warehouse-related costs. The
capitalisation of these costs is based on time sheets. time studies. standard costs, call tracking systems and other
verifiahle means that directly link the costs incurred with the applicable capitalisable activity. The group
continuously monitors the appropriateness of its capitalisation policies and update the policies when necessary
1o respond to changes in facts and circumstances. such as the development of new products and services, and
changes in the manner that installations o construction avtivities are performed.

Fasir vatue measwrement of financial invraments

\lanagerment uses saluation technigues to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active markel
quotes are not available) and non-fimancial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions
consistent with how market participams would price the instrument.

A lanagement bases its assumptions on vbservable data as far as possible but this is not alway s available. In that
case management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that
would be achieyved in ap arm’s Jength transaction af the reporting date i see note 21)



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the Year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies {continued)

Basis of conselidation

Subsidiaries arc entities controlied by the group. The group controls an entity when it is exposed to. or has
rights 10. variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity, In assessing control, the group takes inte consideration potential voting rights. The
acquisition date is the date on which control is transterred to the acquirer. The finanwial satements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial staiements from the date that control commenges until the
date that control ceases, Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidian are allocated w the
non-vontrolling interests even il doing so causes the non-conerolling interests to have a deficit balance.

Acyuisitions under common control .

Business combinations between entitics that are under common control are accounted for at book value. The
assets and liabilitics acquired or transferred are recognised or derecognised at the carrying amounts previously
recognised in the group controlling shareholder's consolidated financial statements. The components of equity
uf the acquired entities are added to the same components within the group equity and any gain loss arising is
recognised directly in equity.

" Tirderei,

Transactions et d ot ¢
Intra-group balances and transactions. and any unrealised income and expenses arising from  intra-group
transactions. are ¢liminated. Unrealised sains arising from wansactions with equity-accounted investees are
climinated against the fnvestment fo the extent of the group’s interest in the investee. Lnredised josses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains. but only tw the extent that there 15 no evidence of Impairment.

Foreign currency trunslation

The group's consofidated financial statements are presented in pound sterling. which is also the parent
company's functional currency. I'ransactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the local entity 's
functional carrency by applying the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assers and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling
at the balance sheet date. All exchange differences are included in the Group Income Statement. exwept where
hedge-aceounting is applied and tor ditfercnces on monetary assets and liabilities that form part of the group’s
net investment in a foreign operation. These are recorded directly in equity until the dispusal of the net
investment, at which time they are reclussitied from equity te profit or loss,

Non-monetany items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a toreign currency are translated using the
exchanpe rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monctary items measuted a1 fair value i a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined

Goodwill

Business combinations. other than common control business combinations, are accounted for using the
acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which centrol is transfemed 1o the group. The
group measures roodwill at the acquisition date as:

the fairvalue of the consideration ransterred: plus

the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree: plus

the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree: less

the net recognised amount (generally fair saluet. of the identifiable assers acquired and lisbilitics
assumed

Custs related to acquisitions, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity seearities. are evpensed
as tneurred,

When the excuess i negative any gain on bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immeduatels.
Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at lais value at the acquisition date. 11 the contingent

consideration i classified as eyuity . it s not remeasured and settlement 5 accounted for awithin equiy .
Orherwise. subsequent changes 1o the fair value of the contingeat considuration are recognised in profit or loss.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2 Accounting policies (continued)

On a transacton-by-transaction basis. the group clects 10 measure non-controlling interests. which have both
present ownership interests and are entitied to a proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree in the event of
liquidation. either ar its fair value or at its proportionate intevest in the recopnised amount of the identifiable net
assets of the acquiree at the acquisition dale. All other non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value
at the acquisition date.

Property, plant and equipment

Property. plant and equipment is stated al cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impainment
losses. The cost includes costs directly auributable 1o making the asset capable of operating as intended.
Property. plamt and equipment acquired through business combinations is initially recorded at fair valwe on
acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on all property. plant and ¢quipment. other than freehold land. on a straight-line basis
al rates calculated to write ofT the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated useful life
as follows:

Network assets, cable plant and equipment

Network assets - 3.1 years

Network assets includes construction in progress which is not depreciated and comprises of marerials.
consumabies and direct labour relating (o network construction and is stated at the cost incurred in bringing
each product to its present {ocation and condition. as follows:

Raw materials and consumables - Purchase cost

Work in progress - Cost of direct materials and labour
(her fived assers

Right-of-use property - Period of lease

Freehold property. other than land - 30 years

Leasehold improvements - 20 years or. if less, the term of the lease
Furniture and fixtures - 5-12years

Computer equipment - 3-3Syears

Motor vehicles - Syears

Labour costs refating to the design, construction and development of the network, capital projects, and related
services are capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the life of the relevant assels,

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
vircumstances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable. The useful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and where adjustments are required. these are made prospectively.

Impairment of intungible assers and property, plant and equipment

In accordance with IAS 36 Topairmment of tasen”. intangible assets with finite lives are amostised on a siraight-
line basis over their respective estimated useful fives. and reviewed tor indications of impairment @t each
reporting date. B any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset 15 required. the
proup makes an estimate ol the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its
fair value less costs to sell and ity value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash flows that are largely independem of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the
carrying amoum ot an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and s written
down to its recoverable amount. in assessing value in use. the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tas discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 1ime value of
money and the rishs specific wo the asset.  Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the
Group Income Statement in those expense calegories consistent with the function of the impaired assel.

Am assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is an indication that previousls recognised
impatrment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. {f such indication exists. the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previousty revognised impairment loss is reversed. other than on goudwill. only i€ there has
been a change in the ¢stimates used o determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment foss
was recognised.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions for tiabilities und charges

Provisions are recorded when the group has a lepal or constructive obligation as a result ol a past event for
which it is probable that the group will be required 1o settle by an outflow of economic benetits and for which a
reliabie estimaie of the amoum of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each halance sheet
date and adjusted to refiect the current best estimate.

Where the effect of the time value of munes is material, the amount of the provision is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required 1o settie the obtigation.

Leases

On the lcase commencement date. (i) a ROL! asset is recognised representing the right o use an underlying
asset and (ii) lease liabilities representing the group’s obligation 10 make lease payments over the lvase term.
Lease and non-lease components in 2 contract are generally accounted for separate|y .

The groyp initially measures lease liabilities at the present value of the remaining lease payments over the lease
term. Options 10 extend or terminate the lease are included only when it 15 reasonably cerwsin that the option
will be exercised. As most of the group's keases do not provide enough information o determine an implicit
interest rate. a portfulio level incremental borrowing rate is used in the present value calculation. ROL assets
are indtially measured at the value of the lease liability . plus any initial direct costs and prepaid lease payments.
less any |ease incentives received.

ROU assets are generally depreciated on u straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the uschul life
of the asset. inlerest expense on the lease liability is recorded using the effective interest method.

Pedlicy applicable before | Junnary 2009

In the comparative period under 1AS 17. the group emered im0 a lease under which it takes substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of an asset. the lease was treated as a finance lease.

The assets were recorded in the balance sheet as a tined tangible asser and depreciated over their useful
economic lives. Ninance lease debtors were recorded in the balance sheet. and future instalments payvable under
finance leases were included within creditors. net of finance charges. Rentals receivable and payable under
these finance {ease arrangements are apportioned; the finance elements were recorded in the profit and loss
account op a reducing balance basis and the capital elements reduced the vutstanding liability or asset in
accordance with the terms of the contract.

Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and rishs of ownership remained
sith the lessor, were charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the period of the lease,

Truerest bearing loans and burrowings
Al lvans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly auributable transaction costs.

After inttiad recognition. interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently mwasured at amontised cost
using the effective interest methed.

Gains and Josses arising vn the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recagnised
respectivels in finance income and (inance costs.,

Fenance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set ofY apainst the
borrowings to which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amonised over the wrm of the related debt using the
ettective interest method
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2

Accounting policies (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedying

The group has established policies and procedures 10 govern the management of its exposure to interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate risks through the use of derivative financial instruments. including intcrest rate
SWaps. Cross currency inlerest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are initdaflly recognised al fair vafue on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.

Derivatives are recognised as financial assels when the fair value is positive and as lisbilities when the fair
value is negative.

The foreign currency forward rate contracis, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are
valued using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations or market transactions in
either the listed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-performance rish. Non-performance risk is based
upam guoted credit default spreads for counterparties to the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are
subject to master netting arrangements are not offset and have not provided, nor require. cash collateral with
any counterparty.

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates, these
losses would penerally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used to hedge
underlying commetcial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative
irading purposes. nor dues it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complesity or with a rish
that is greater than the exposure to be managed. :

For derivatives which are designated as hedges the hedging relationship is documented at its inception. This
documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how effectiveness wilt be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception
to be highly effective.

The group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges. when hedging exposure to variability in the
fair value of recognised assets or Habilities or firm commitments. or as cashflow hedges, when hedging
exposure to variability in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk assoctated with a recognised
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an effective hedging relationship. as set out in [FRS 9. must be classified as held
for trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash Aow hedpes, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is reeognised dircetly
in Other Comprehensive Income. while the incffective portion is recognised in the Group Income Statement.
Amounts 1zken to Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified 1o the Group Income Statement when the
hedged tansaction is recognised in the Group Income Stalemenl. such as when a forceast sale or purchase
oveurs, in the same line of the Group income Statement as the recognised hedped item. Where the hedged item
is the cost of a non-financial asser or liabilits. the pains and fosses previously accumulated in equity are
transferred 10 the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or liabilinn . I 2 forecast transaction
is o lenpger expected 10 oceur, the gain or loss accwmulated in equity is recognised immediately in the Group
Income Statement. 1 the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or
rollover. or if s desippation as i hedge is resohed, amounts previoush recopnised in Other Comprehensive
Income remain in equity untl the forecast transaction occurs and are reclassilied 0 the Group Income
Seatenment.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Fair velue hedges

For fair value hedges. the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recoenised in the Group
Income Statement immediatels. wgether with any <hanges in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability (hat
are attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedying instrument and the change in the
hedged item atiributabie to the hedgeed risk are recogaised in the line of the Group lncome Statement refating to
the hedged iwm.

I the hedginyg instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or il its
designation as a hedge is revoked. then the fair value adjustment to the carrving amount of the hedged item
arising trom the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date,

Inventories

Inventory consists of goods for resale and programing inventories which are valued at the lower of cost or net
realisable value using the Brst-in. first-our (FIFO} method. Cost represents the invoived purchase cost of
inventory. Net realisable value is based an judgements, using currently available mformation about obsolete.
slow moving or defective inventory. Based upon these judgements and estimates, which are applied consistently
tfrom period to period. an adjustment is made to state the carrying amount of inventory held for resale at the
lomwer of cost and net realisable value.

Trade arnd other receivahies

Our trade receivables are initialh measured al fair value and subsequently reported at amontised cost. net of an
allowance for impairment of trade receivables. The allowance for impairment of trade receivables is estimated
based upon our assessment of anticipated loss related to uncollectible accounts receivable. We use a number of
factors in determining the allowance. including. amony other things. collection trends. prevailing and
anticipated economic conditions. and specific customer credit risk. The aflowance is maintained until either
payment is received or the likelihood of cotlection is considered 1o be remote. For additional information
regarding our trade receivable and altowance for impairment of trade receivables, see note 13,

Coneentration of credit risk with respect 10 trade receivables is limited due 1o the large number of residential
business cusiomers. We also manage this risk by disconnecting services to customers whose accounts are
delinquent.

Cwvh and short term deposits

Cash and short-term deposits in the Group Balance Sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term
depusits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the Group Cash Flow Statement.
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term deposits as defined above. net ol outstanding banrk
overdrafts.

Tax

Currend income ax

Current tax assets and liabilitics are measured at the amount oxpevted to be cecovered from or paid 1o the
taxation auwthorities, hased an tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively engcted by e balance sheet
date.

Current income tax relating o items recognised directhy in equity is recognised in equity and not in e tncome
statenent. The directors periodically evalvare positions 1ahen in the 1ax retrns with respecy 1o situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and cstablish provisions where appropriate.
Income tan is charged or credied 1o ¢ther Comprehensive {acome if it relates to items that are charged or
credited to Other Comprehensive fncome.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the lability method on temporary differences between the lax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrving amounts for financial reponting purposes al the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for afl taxable temporary differences. except:

e When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and. at the time of the transaction. affects neither the
accounting profit ror taxable profit ot loss.

» In respect of taxable temporany differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the teversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and i1 is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeabie future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised (o the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences. and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. except:

e  When the deferred tax asset refating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or kability in a transaction thal is not a business combination and. a1 the time of the
transaction. affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

s In respect of deductible lemporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries. associates and
interests in joint veniures. deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against’
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred 1ax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 1ax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will atlow the deferred 1ax asset to be recovered.

Deferred wx assels and liabilities are measured at the 1ax rates that are expected to apply in the vear when the
asset is realised or the Kability is settled. based on tax rates {and tax laws} that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reponting date,

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, Deferred tax
ilems are recognised in correlation 1o the underlying transaction either in Other Comprebensive Income or
directly in equity.

Deferred tas asaets and deforred tay liabiitivs are offsct if a legally enforceable right exists 1o set off current tax
assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate 10 the same raxable entin and the same
taxation authority.

Pensions

The group contributes to the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans lor eligible employees.
Contributivns 10 these schemes are recognised in the Group Income Statement in the period in which thes
become pas able. in accordance with the rules for cach of the plans.

The proup operates three defined benelit pension plans, which require contributions to be made w0 separately
administered tunds. The plans are closed w0 pew entrants.

The repular cost of providing benetits under the defined benefit plans is attributed to individual years using the
projected unit credit method.  Variations in pension cost, which are identified as a result of actuarial valuations.
are amortised over the average ¢vpected remaining working lives of employees in proportion to their expected
pavroll costs. Past service costs are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or immediately if the benefits have vested.
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When a setifement (eliminating all obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtailment (reducing future
obligations as a result of a material reduction in the scheme membership oe a reduction in future entitlement
oceurs, the obligation and related scheme assets are re-measured using the current actuarial assumptions and the
resultant gain or oss recognised in the Group Income Statement during the period 0 which the sertlement or
curtailment oceurs.

The interest efement of the defined benefit pension cost represents the change in present value of scheme
obligations resulting from the passage of time and &s determined by apply ing the discount rate o the opening
present vajue of the benefit obligation. whing inte account material changes in the obligation during the year,
1 he expecied retumn on scheme assets is based on an assessment made at the beginning of the year of long term
market returns on scheme assets. adjusted for the effect of fair value of the scheme assets of contributions
received and benefits paid during the year. T'he difference between the expected return on scheme assets and
the interest cost is recognised in the Group income Statemeat.

Actuarial gains and losses are recoenised in full in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period
in which they occur.

t he defined benetit pension asset or liability in the Group Balance Sheet comprises the total for each scheme of
the present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds).

less amy past service cost not vet recoenised and less the tair value of scheme assets out of which the obligations
are to be settled directly. Fair value is based on market price information and. in the case of quoted securities.

is the published bid price.

Revenue recognition

Revenue earned from contracts to be recognised in line with performance obligations based on a five-step
muodel.

On inception of the contract we idemily a “performance obligation™ for each ol the distinct goods or services
we have promised 1o provide to the customer. [he consideration specified in the contract is allocated to cach
performance obligation identified based on their relative standalone selling prices. and is recognised in revenue
as they are satistied. The following table summarises the performance obligations we have identified for our
major revenue lines and provides information on the time of when they are satisfies and the related revenue
recognition policy.

| Revenue line i Performance shligati Rey enue recognition policy .

PSen e revenue Cable | Provision of video. broadband internct and fised-tine | Revenue Tor thewe 1vpes of serviees

Nt orks wlephony serviees aver vur cabic netwaork o worecopnised evenly over the period
Customers ul'the agreement us Hiw seavices ase

} . - providud. |
Periormance shligations are identtied for cack ‘

distingt servive for which the cuswomer has contrusted
and are connidered 1o b satislied saer the time period

L §hat these wervices ane delered. R )
; Installution and other | W hen the group enters into contracts W prosde These fees are penerally deterred |
untroa foes b owervices W vustomiers, the proup ollen charges and recognised as reveiie over the !
! ¢ mstallation ot other upiront lees., conttraciuad peeiod. o longer it the

| i hwad , | , uptresnt foo resulls v a matenal 1
! e group s abhiged o essuee i can supply swenviees renusval right

. 0 (he gustomer premise as per e custonwr contracl
I his ine Judes cable plant and coquipment instalbation
Jt the ctistoneers prerise '

Instailation 1~ ot considercd as g wparals
perfornuuwe ohli

oo L e G —

k¥
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2B nrvenue Proviswn of dake voice ad network solutivn The greup deter upfront instaHatgon
wivives, iwluding the sake and maintenance of and cortain ponrecerring s
wquipment W business customens. [nstallation charpes | reeeived on husingss-lo-business
‘ are charged i relahon o the provision of wnioes contracts where we maintain .
! awnership of the installed

Lhe geoup s obhiged o proside the vustomer with the | equipment. The deferned lecs are !
connectivity sers iees and of cquipment stipulsted the | amontised into revenoe on ;

| custorsier cantract. straight=line basis, generally aver

H the longer of the werm af the
Insiailation is et considered as 8 weparaie arranpement or the expeated period

. periurmance whligation of performance,

| From time o time, we also eater

' intu agreements with certain 328

customers pursuant i which they
are prosided the right 10 use cortain

l clements ol our nemork, ITthew
agrecments are determined w

i cuntain a lease that mects the

1 criteria o by considered @ sales-

! Bpc kease, we fecognisg revene

i lrom the Jease component when

! eontrol af the network clement i<

truns ferred to the customer,

Muabile revenue - Pros ixion of minuies. texis and data over ous Mobike Ihe group recoghise revenwe from
Abrtime services neiwork. mobile services in the period in

which the relaed senvices ure
provided. Revenue from pre-pay
custorners is deterred prior o the
wach munth. commencement of services and
recognised as the serviees arc
rendered or usage rights expire.

The group is obliged w provide the customer with o
S which is prosisioncd with contracied allowances

Mubile revenue - Provision of muhile handset delivery (o the customer. | Arrangement consideration

Hundscts . . ) . , , i alloeied o handsets is recognised
'?“-‘ group obliged "l_" f"';:"‘_"_“'cl""'r-" of mubile as revenue when Lhe ponds have
handsets as requested by the customer. been delivered and tithe has passed

For customers umiez s mobile
fupnidset instalment contrack that is
independent ol a mobile wirime
Ser iees contracl resenug 1y
neeupgnied upon delivery

There are ne material obligations in respect of returns, refunds or warranties,

Consideration from mobile coniracts is alkocated 1o the airtime service component and the handset component
hased on the relative standaione selling prices of each component. When the group offer handsets and atrtime
services in separate vontracts entered inte at the same time. the group account for these vontracts as a single
contract.

[ncremental revenues are gencrated based on usage for calis and video on demand. The entity has a right to
consideration from the customer at an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the cusiomer of the
entity s perfurmance completed to date. therefore the entity recognises the revenue 1o the estent to which it has
aright to invoice.

Fur subscriber promotions. such as discounted or free servives during an introductony period. revenue is
recognised uniformly over the contractual period if the contract has substantive termination penalties. If a
contract does not have substantive termination penalties, revenue is recognized onfy 10 the extent of the
dincounted monthly fees charged o the subscriber, any.

st
w
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Accounting policies (continued)

Cther income

{rerest income s recognised as interest acerues according o the effective interest method which usces the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the linancial instrument to the
net carrying amount.

Shure-based payments

The company s an ndirect, whotly -owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Inc. and Liberty Global ple. The
company has no share-bhased compensation plans. Employees render services in exchange for shares or rights
over shares Lequity -settled tmnsactions) of Liberty Global ple common stock.

T'he cost of equity settled 1ransactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
which they are granted. The fair value of options and share appreciation rights are determined using the Black-
Scholes moedel. The fair value of restricted share units is determined using either the share price at the grant date
or the Monte Carlo model. depending on the conditions. attached to the restricted share units being granted.
These transaction costs are recognised. wgether with a corresponding increase in eithes equity or amounts owed
1o parent undertakings. over the service period. or. if applicable. over the period in which any performance
conditions are fulfilled, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitied to the
award {vesting date). The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date,
until the vesting date. reflects the extent (o which the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that
are estimated 1o ultimately vest. in the opinion of management at that date and based vn the best available
information.

No expense 15 revognised Tor awards that do not ultimately vest. except for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a market vesting condition. which are weated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
condition 15 satisfied. provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.
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3  Segment information

The principal activity of the compans is to facilitate the group’s financing structure by implementing the group™s
capital management policies. making and facilitating external borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary
companies. The company s investments include all of the Virgin \Media group’s trading operating companies.

The Virgin Media group's reporting Segments ar¢ based on its method of internal reporting to the Liberty
Cilobal group and the information used by its chief eaecutive officer. who is the chief operating decision maker
{“CODM™). 1o evaluate segment purformance and make capital allocation decisions.

It has been determined that the Virgin Media group comprises a single operating segment, This reflects how the
CODM reviews the results of the group’s business based on revenue and profimbility measures.

There is no material difference hetween the revenue presented to the CODM and the revenue of the Virgin
\edia Finance PLC group. Revenue for the group was £5.168.]1 mitlion (2018 - £5.150.3 miltion) and was
entirely derived from the sale of goods and services.

Cieographic Locdtions

The group’s revenue by geographic location is sel out below:

2019 2018
£ million £ million

LK 4.763.5 4.757.7
Ireland 402.6 1926
Total 5.168.1 5.150.3

4 Group aperating profit

This is stated after charging (crediting):

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Depreciation of property . plant and equipment 1.004.7 1.027.1

Depreciation of right of use assets o420 9.8

Total depreciation ).046.7 L.036.9

Amerisation of intangibhe assets 103.1 185.8

Rent of premises 20.8 28.2
Giain on disposal of property . plant and equipment 3.3 3%

Cost of inventories recognssed within cost of safes 2164 RERR]
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a

k)

Auditor’s remuneration

The group paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements and for

other services provided to the group.

Fewy, paid to the auditor for audit and other services 1o the company are not disclosed in its individual accounts

as the group accounts are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and their associates for other services represents fees pavable for
services in relation to other statutory filings ot engagements that are required to be carried out by the group's

auditors,

2019
£ million
Audit services:
Statutory audit services - audit of the parent company and group 0.s
financial statements
Fees payable to the company's auditors and their associates for other services:
Statytory audil services - statutery accounts of the company's subsidiarics 0.2

0.7

2018
£ million

Staff costs and directors’ emoluments

Staff casts

ncluded in wages and salaries is a tial expense for share-based payments of £48.3 miltion (2018 - £27.2
miltion), all of which arises from transactions accounted for as equity-settled share-based pay ment transactions.

Further information on compensation of key maragement personnel is disclosed in the related parny

transactions {note 284

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Wapes and salaries 3905 3919

Social secutity costs 56.6 36.2

Pension costs - defined benefit scheme 1.6 kR

Pension costs - defined contribution scheme 276 RERS

T'olal srafT costs 683.3 676.4

Average staff oumbuers

Fhe average monthly number of employees during the vear was:

2019 2018

No. No.

Consumer 5856 6.3

Support, echnolagy and Tonos ation 3042 3054

Busmens 22 2390

Lightaing 887 863

Muobile 52 73

T ol staf! numbers 2048 13.575
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)

Staff costs and directors’ emoluments (continued)
Directors” emoluments

T'here were no other transactions with directors during the year.

Directors’ remuneration
Amounts receivable under long term incentive plans
Total remuneration

Company contributions paid to money purchase pension plans

Highest paid director:
Remuneration (including awards receivable under long term incentive plans}
Company contributions paid to money purchase pension plans

Number of directors accruing benefits under money purchase plans
Number of directors who excrcised share options under schemes
operated by ultimate parent company

Number of directors with shares received or receivable under long
term incentive plans

Finance income

s

2018

£ 000 £ 000
3.938 3,332
1.510 455
5449 1.787
i8 10
2048 2243
9 10
2,157 2,253
2019 2018
No. No.
3 3

3 4

3 4

Other finance income and interest on amounts due from group undertakings and related parties are recognised
using the effective interest rate method in accordance with IFRS 9 *Financial instruments’.

Interest on amounts due from related parties
Gain on foreipn exchange

Gain on derivative financial instruments
Gain on fair value of financial mstruments
Other finance income

Interest on pensions

Total finance income

1819
£ million

2838
200.7

0.6
2.3
487 4

2018
£ million

753.7
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Finance costs

Interest payable is recognised nsing the effective interest raté method.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, luss on extinguishment of debt was £1EB.8 million (201X - £29.0
million) and related to the redemption premiwmn paid and the write off of deferred financing costs as a resubt of
the redemption of the senior nutes. senior secured notes and senior credit tacilities from refinancing activities

during the vear {see note 17).

Interest payable on:
Senjor credit facility and vendor financing
Senior notes
Loans from related partics
Luoss on derivative financial instruments
l.oss on foreign exchange
l.oss on debt extinguishment
l.oss on fair value of financial instruments
Interest pay able on leases
Unwinding of discounts on provisions
Other interest and fees
[ otal finance costs

Tax
fa) Tax expense on profit before tax
Current income foee
UK taxes
Deterred income tax
Origination and reversal of temporany differences

Aovement in deferred tax assets due to change in tax rate
Prior year adjustment

Tolal tax expense in Group fncome Staternent

th) Reconciliativn uf the total tax expense in the Group Incaome Starement

2019 2018
£ million £ million
27756 249 4
1825 RIS )
- 0.3
306 -
- 326.1
1888 9.0
0.8 -
i2.0 6.0
15 I
23 52
886.1  1.0UB.9
1019 018
£ million £ million
0.9 23
0.0 i3
98 4 95 |
119 (205
7.6 4.7
1021 835
103.0 38.8

Group Income Statement fay expense recondiltation to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%,
P P "

(2018 9%,

Profit betore meome tay

Profit multiplied by the UK standard rste olcorporation
tax of 19%6 12008 - 19.25%)
Fxpenses not deductible tor 1 purposes
Uilisation ot 1ay losse< and other deductions
Other
Movement in deferred ta assets due W change in tax rate
Adjustment relating 1o prior years
Potal tax expemse recognised im the group meome statement

40

2419 2018

£ mitlion £ million
6801 4734
129.2 0N}
6.7 154
(38,24 [JRURH

1.6 90
3.9} (203

7.0 1.7

163.0 58.8
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9 Tax {continued)

{c) Reconciliation of the tnal tax expense

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Tax revoghised in the Group Income Statement 103.0 88.8
Tax revognised in equity (1.0} 1.4
Total tax expense 102.0 90.2

{d} Recognised deferred tax

Recognised deferred tax assets at 3} December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were as follows:

2019 0ms8
£ million £ million
UK deferred tax assets:

Depreciation and amornisation 1.370.1 1.499.9

Derivative instrurments 182 6.7)
Net opersting losses 157.4 139.0
Other 55 131
Total UK deferred tax assets 1.544.2 1.645.3

The group has determined it probable that in future it will generate sufficient pre-tax profits to utilise
substantially all of its deferred tax assets related to unclaimed capital allowances.

1n the March 2020 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will remain at the current 1990 and not reduce
to [ 7% from { April 2020. This will have a consequential effect on the groups future tax charge. If this tax rate
change had been substantively enacted a1 the current balance sheet date the deferred tax asset would have
increased by £182.3 million.

(e) Unrecogmised deferred tax

Deferred tax assets in respect of the following amounts have not been recognised as there is not currently
persuasive evidence that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these timing differences will

reverse.
- 2019 2018
£ million £ million
et operating losses £79.0 4159
Capital losses 12.104.6 12.105.0
Other timing differences R R .o 2T
| 128976 128886

31
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Tax (continued)

0} Movemens in deferred tix halances
Monenwents in defermad tax during the ear

1J Y Recognised in Recognised in 31 December

p2lIR income equity 2019

£ million £ million £ million € million
Drepreviation and amartisaiion 14949 t129.8) - L3700
Deerivative instruments h.7) 17.9 - 112
Not operating losses [REX)) N4 - 1574
Other 131 (4.5) 1o 5.6
1.645.3 {1020y 1.0 1.544.3

Minvements in delemed v during L prive scar:

| January Recognised in Recogaised in 31 December

2018 income equity 2018

£ million £ million £ million £ million

Depreciation and wnostisaion [.577.8 177.6) - l.4v9.9

Derivative instruments 6. (13.6) - 6.7
Net operating losses [RRN 54 - P390
Onther 12.2 23 (.4 13.1
1,730,2 (X3.5) C il 4y Lh33.2
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{a} Summary of intangible ussets

Goodwill T Software . Other Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Cost
At | January 2018 2,300 3877 2.7 2.909.5
Impairment - 8.6) - (8.6}
Additions 1.5 160.4 . 161.9
Disposals - 193.7) - {93.7)
Effect of movement in exchange rates 22 - - 22
At 3| December 2018 and | Januany 2019 2.303.8 6458 217 29713
impairment - 0.4y - (0.4
Additions - 892 - 89.2
Disposals - (75 - (75,13
Effect of movement in exchange rates 112.6 . - (12.6)
At 31 December 2019 2.291.2 659.3 257 2,972.4
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 - 1386 178.8 1.2 3180
Amortisation charge - 1711 t4.7 185.8
Disposals - (33.7) - 193.7}
At 31 December 2018 and | January 2019 1380 256.2 15.9 410.1
Amortisation charge - 1920 1.1 193.1
Disposals - (7511 - t75.1)
A1 31 December 2019 138.0 373.1 17.0 528.1
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 2,153.2 2864 4.7 24443
AL 3t December 2018 2.165.8 389.6 5.8 2.561.2
At | January 2018 21621 408.9 20.3 2,591.5

The amortisation charge has been recognised through administrative expenses in the Group Income Statement.

(b} Impairment of goodwill and intungible assets with indefinite lives

Geodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful Hves are nol amortised, bul instead are tested for
tmpairment at least annuilly. Goodwill is allocated 0 reporting units, the assets of which are separately
aperated and monitored. Management considers that there are two reporling units relating to the group’s
aperations in the LK and Ireland.

The group evaluates the recoverable amount ol the group’s reporttng units, using a lair value less costs o sell
method. 1 he group’s estimate of the recoverable amount is based primarily of observable LBITDA multiples
for recent transactions and publicly—traded peer companies, which are Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy .
The group’s 2019 goodwill impairment assessment determined that fair value exceeded the carrying value of
both of the group’s reporting units and as a result concluded that no impairment {o goodwill was required.
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1L Property, plant and equipment

Network
assets Other Total
£ million £ million £ million
Cost
At | January 2018 13.843.3 L3430 15.186.3
Additions 1.166.4 1643 1.3309
On acquisition of subsidian 0.8 - 0.8
Transfers 315 (315 -
Effect of movement in exchange rates 78 1.1 8.9
Disposals 183 1374 (6357
At 31 December 2018 and | January 2019 14.431.7 14395 15.871.2
Lease opening balance adjustment 10.5 136.6 1471
Additions 1005 4 187.8 1.193.2
Effect of movement in exchange rates [43.5} (5.8) 49.1}
Disposals 1799.1) 143.3) 1842.6)
At 31 December 2019 14,605.0 1.714.8 16,319.8
Depreciation
At | January 2018 91296 9240 13.049.6
Provided during the year CREI| 1158 [RUETI
Transfer 16.1 (16,1} -
Ettect of movermnent in exchange rates 4.1 0.7 48
Disposals 16167 126.5} (643.2)
AL 31 December 2018 and | January 2019 94542 9519 10.448.1
Provided during the year - 890.0 156.7 1.046.7
Impairment releass 424.7) - (424.7)
Effect o movement in exchange rates 251 2.7y {258y
Disposals (779.3) (43.2) (822.5)
At 31 December 2019 9.117.1 1,104.7 10,221.8
MNet hook value
At 31 December 2019 54879 LIEN] 6.098.0
AL 31 December 2018 4.977.5 4450 542310
At Januan 2018 47137 4230 5.136.7
The wroup did not capitalise any borrowings costs during the vear,
Included in 'Other' are the fotlowing net book values:
019 2018
£ million £ million
I rechold land and buildings RER 54
| easehold land and buildings 291 298
l.easchold improsements 296 624
1231 127 A

44
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Financial assets
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Non-current
Restricted cash 220 5.5
Deferred financing costs 16.2 14.5
Derivative instruments {see note 21) 430.9 1.9
Amounts owed by related parties 49538 4.826.0
54229 5.587.9
Current
Derivative instruments (see note 21 824 143.0
Restricted cash 0.1 0.1
82.5 143.1

Amounts owed by related parties are primarily in respect of loan notes receivable from Liberty Global Europe 2
Limited. a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Giobal pic that sits outside of the Virgin Media group, which
have an aggregate principal balance of £4.926.4 million (2018: £4.826.0 mitlion). These comprise of principal
amount outstanding of £1.501.5 miltion (2018: £1.501.5 million) which incur interest at a rate of 8.5% repayable
in April 2023 and £3.424.9 million (2018 £3.324.5 million) at a rate of 4.763%0 (subject to adjustment)
repavable in July 2023

13 Trade and other receivables

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Non-current
Prepay ments and accrued income 363 373
Other receivables u 0.1
36.3 37.4
Curremt
Trade receivables 429.4 117.7
Amounts owed by parent and group undentakings 16 -
Amounts owed by related parties 353 168
Prepayments and accrued income 184.6 1640
650.9 628.5

Prepayments and accrued income classified as non-current include lony term telecommunications contract
assets with terms in excess of one year.

Current amounts owed by related panies are unsecured and repayable on demand.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. are generally on 30-90 day terms and are stated net of provision for
non-recoverability. The proup's trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment
and it was concluded that a provision lor non-recoverabiliny of £19.5 million (2618 - £19.6 million) was
required. The carning value of rade receivables is considered 1o be a fair approvimation of fair value.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upun the group’s assessment of probable luss related to
unvollectible trade receivables. The group uses a number of factors in determining the allowance. including,
among other things, collection irends. prevailing and anbiipated ecanomic conditions and specilic customer
credit rish, The allowance is maintained umtil ¢ither receipt of pavment or the likefihood of coliection is

censidered 10 be remote.
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13 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Movements in the provision for impairment ol receivables were as follows:

£ million
AL | January 2018 33
Charge for the year 257
Utilised 139.2)
At 3t December 2018 and § January 200 19.6
Charge for the vear 2
Utilised 1233y
Al 31 December 2019 19.5
The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
Neither
past due nor Balances past due
Total impaired <3 days 30-60 days 6090 days >90 days
£ mitlion £ million £ million £ mitlion £ mitlion £ million
31 December 2019 4204 3246 REX) 234 6.8 0.0
31 December 2018 4177 HLx: 38.0 14,4 78 3461
I4 Inventories
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Guods for resale 309 20
Programming inventory ) 287
‘Votal Inventory 34.6 60,7

15 Cash and short term deposits

Cash at bank earns interest at leating rates based on daily bank depusit rates. Short-term deposits are made for
arving periods of between one din and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalems
inchuding overdrawn cash book balances at 11 December 2019 was £33.9 million (12018 - £16.2 million).

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term deposits

2019
£ million

339

-
tad
<

2018
{ million

161
0.1
6.2
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16 Trade and other payables

2019 2048
£ million £ million

Current
Trade payables A543 1759
v AT, payroll taxes and sociat security vosts 16§.0 148.9
Interest payable 133.2 i97.7
Amounts owed 1o parent and group undertahings 52.2 36,7
Amounts owed 10 related party 189 63.9
Accruals and deferred income 8423 8399
1.591.9 1.663.0

Trade pasables are non-interest bearing and generally repayable on terms of up to 60 days. Trade payables.
interest payable and amounts owed to group undertakings are financial liabilities which are excluded from note
17,

Amounits vwed W group undertakings and to related parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.

019 2018
£ million £ miltion
Non-current
Other long term payables 26.8 36.8
Other long term payables consist of property and restructuring costs provisions.
17 Financial liabilities
2619 2018
£ million £ million
Current
1ease Habifities (see note 18) i35 5.7
Current instalments due on other debt 1.5 772
Deeriy ative instruments (see nole 21) 133.6 LR
Vendor financing 1.762.7 1.848.3
20313 20031
New-current
Fease liabilities (see nole 18) 188.0 8.4
Non-current instaéments due on seniaor ceedit tacility Joudd 3530
Senb Nowes 1.147.3 1.538.7
SenioT seeured notes 44710 4.986.7
Non-ciitent instddments due on other debt 142.7 RO
Plerivative instruments dsee note 21 4028 2927
Vendor financing 724 +4.7
10,4633 17325
Tental financial livbilities 12,494 % 12.745.6

+7
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Borrowings at 31 December were repayable as follows:

2019 28
£ million £ million
Amounts falling due:

Within one year 1.804.4 198140

In more than one vear but not more than five vears a40.2 9031
In more than five years 9.637.6 Y.188.5
17822 T2
Less: issue costs t45.3) (55.7)
Total borrowings 117369 123169
1570 4287

Financial liabitities not classed as borrowings

Total financial liabilities 12,494 8 12.745.6

Financial liabilities not classed as borrowings include amounts payable to parent and group undertashings.
obligations under leases, mterest rale swaps and Cross-currency interest rate swaps.

1.oans repayable in more than five years are as follows:

2019 2018

Loans repuyable afler 5 years: £ million £ million
Senior notes 1.05722 14170
Senior secured notes 4.490.8 4.476.6
Senior credit facilities 10146 35633
Other debt 750 RER)
96376 44883

Vendor finuncing

The group enters into vendor financing amrangements to finance certain property and equipment additions and
operating cosis. The amounts owed pursuant v these arrangements are interest bearing and include VAT which
was paid on the group's behalf by the vendor. Repayments of vendor financing obligations are included in the
repayment of borrawings in the Group Cash Flow Statement. The weighted average cost of vendor financing
debt is 4.96%0 and is substantially due within | y¢ar.

Senior notes

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Seniar sotes convist of
U.S. Dollur
5.25% senior aotes due 2022 (principal 2t maturins 32 million) Kl 3. 19,6
4.875% senior notes due 2022 {principat at maturity 572 million) 54.0 8.3
6.006%0 senior notes due 2024 (principal at maturity 5497 milliony 3747 39500
.75%a senior aotes due J025 (principal at maturin 3389 million) 2031 RIRE
700.6 §t17
Srerting
3.125%4 senive notes due 24022 cprincipal at maturity £44 mitlion 40T 141
6.375% senior notes due 2024 cprincipal ar matuenn £300 million) - 300 0
4.1 3441
Furo
4.5%0 senior notes due 2028 (principal at maturity £.3608 million) 3894 4133
L.ess issue costs (6.8 (104
1.187.3 L5587

T'otal senior notes
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Senmior secured notes
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Sentur secured notes consise of.
{.S. Dollar .
5.25%; senjor secured notes due 2021 (principal at maturity $448 million) - 4027
5.5% senior notes due 2025 (principal at maturity $S425 million} - 2781
5.25%, senior notes due 2026 (principal at maturity $1.006 million) - 7874
5.5% senior notes due 2026 (principal at maturity $750 miilion) 565.6 5884
5.5% senior notes due 2029 (prinipal at maturity $825 million) 1.081.9 -
1.647.5 20566
Sterting
5.5% senior secured notes due 2021 (principal at maturity £107 million) - 125.7
5.5% senior secured notes due 2023 (principal at maturity £387 million) - 387.0
5.125%;, senior secured notes due 2025 (principal at maturity £300 million) - 3000
6.00% senior secured notes due 2025 (principal at maturity £321 million) 540.1 5332
5.00% senior secured netes due 2027 (principal at maturity £675 million) 675.0 675.0
4.875% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £525 million} 3250 525.0
6.23%, senier secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £306 million) 362.0 102.4
5.25%, senior secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £340 million) 341.2 -
4.25% senior secured notes due 2030 {principal a1 maturity £400 million) 4000 -
28433 29483
Less: issue costs (18.9) t18.2)
+4,471.9 4.986.7

Tota} senior secured notes

In May 2019, Virgin Media Sccured Finance ple issued (i) $825.0 million (£622.0 million) principal amount of
2029 VA1 Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (ii) £300.0 million principal amount of 2029 VM 5.25% Sterling
Senior Secured Notes. Each series of notes was issued a1 par and matures on May 15, 2029. The net proceeds
from the issuance of these notes were used 1o redeem in full (ay £387.0 mitlion owstanding principal amount
under the 2025 VM $.5% Sterling Senior Secured Notes, (b) $354.5 million (£267.3 million)} outstanding
principal amount under the 2025 VA Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (¢) £300.0 million outstanding principal
amount under the 2024 VM Sterling Senior Notes. In connection with these transactions, we recognised a loss
on debt modification and extinguishment of £37.3 million related to (1) the payment of £34.0 million of
redemhption premiums and (2) the write-ofT of £3.4 million of unamonised deferred financing costs and

discounts.

In July 2019, Virgin dMedia Secured Finance pie issued an additional $600.0 million (£452.4 million) principal
amount of 2029 VA Dollar Senior Secured “otes at 101.75% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of
these potes were used to redeem in full ¢y $347.9 million (£337.7 million) outstanding principal amount under
the 2031 VAL Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i £107.1 milliva outstanding principal amount under the 2021
VAL Sterling Senior Secured Notes. fn August 2019, we issued an additional £40.0 million principal amoum of
2029 V[ 5.25% Sterling Senior Secured Notes at 103% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of these
notes were used o redeem an equal outstanding principal amount of 2029 VA 6.25% Sterling Senior Secured
Notes, in connection with thebe transactions. we recognised a net loss on debt modification and extinguishment
of £23.3 million related 10 {a) the payment of £25.7 million of redemption premiums and by the write-off of
£2.4 million of net unamortised deferred financing costs. discounts and premiums.

In the financial y ear 2020. the group completed vanous linancing transactions, see note 3| for further details.
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17 Financial tiabilities (continued)

Senior credit fucitin
Pl meinecurrent instulments diae on e scitfor crodel feo i comisds af,

LS. Deslfar

VM Favility &
LIBOR + 2.50% senior credit facility duce 2026 {principal at maturity $3.400.0
milfion)

Eure

VM Faility O
EURIBOR + 2.50% senior credit facilits due 2029 tprincipal at maturity €750.0
million}

Sterfing
VA Facility |
LIBOR+ 3.25% senior credit facility due 2027 (prsncipal at maturity €£400.0 million)

VA Fagility M
LIBOR - 3.25% senior credit facility due 2027 (principal at maturity £500.0 miltion)

Less: issue costs
Senior credit facitity due after more than one year

i current instalment of the senior credit fociling consises of.
VM Revolving Facility
LIBOR - 2.75% revolving facility

Toal senior credit facility

2019 2018

£ million £ million

14821 3.664.6
6334

1000 100.0

199.1 499.0
40046 156346

(h6.2) 123.8)
3.908.4 3.539.8

In October 2019, Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited 1) entered into VM Facilinn No g $3.300.0 million
{£2.488 1 million) term loan facilin, and VAT Facility O, a €750.0 millicn (£635.0 miliion) werm loan facility.
both issued at 99.75% of par. and (i) issued £400.0 million principal amount of 2030 VN Sterling Senior
Secured Notes at par. The net proveeds from these transactions, 1ogether with cerwain other funds. were used to
1a) prepay in full the $3.300.0 million (£2.563.5 millien) outstanding principal amount on M A Faciliy K and
() redeam in full (1) $1.000.0 million 1£754.0 million) outstanding principal amount of the 2026 VA 5.25%
Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (25 £3000.0 miltion outstanding princtpal amount of the 2023 W\ 5.123%
Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In connection with these transactions. we recognised a net loss on debt
modification and extinguishment of £53 3 million related to (A} the payment of €36.3 million of redemption
preniiums and (833 the write-oft of £17 0 millien ol net unamoertised deferred financing costs. discoums and

premiurns,
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

The VM Credit Facility requires that certain members of the Virgin Media Botrowing Group that generate not
fess than 0% of such group’s EBITDA i{as defined in the VM Credit Facility) in any financial year, guarantee
the payment of all sums payable under the VM Credit Facility and such group members are required to grant
first-ranking security over all or substantially all of their assets o secure the payment of all sums payable. In
addition. the holding company of each borrower must give a share pledge over its shares in such borrower.

AL 31 December 2019, the senior secured credit facilities of the proup included two multi currency revolving
credit facilities (" Revelving Facilin™) Revolving Facility A was a multi curteney revolving facility maturing on
31 December 2021 with a maximum bormrowing capacity equivalent to £50.0 million, and Revolving Facility B
was @ multi currency revolving facility maturing on 15 January 2024 with a maximum borrowing capaciny
equivalent to £950.0 million.

In addition 1o mandatory prepayments which must be made for certain disposal proceeds (subject to cerlain de
minimis thresholds). the lenders may cancel their commitments and declare the loans due and payable after 30
business days following the occurrence of a change of control in respect of Virgin Media Investment Holdings
Limited. subject to certain exceptions.

The VM Credit Facility contains centain customary events of default, the occurrence of which, subject to certain
exceptions and materiality qualifications. would allow the lenders to (i) cancel the total commitments. {ii)
accelerate all outstanding loans and terminate their commitments there under and’or {iii} declare that all or part
of the loans be payable on demand. The VM Credit Facility contains certain representations and warranties
customary for facilities of this type. which are subject (0 exceptions. bashets and materiality qualifications.

The VN Credit Facility restricts the ability of certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group to. among
other things, (1) incur or guarantee certain financial indebtedness. {ii) make certain disposals and acquisitions
and (iii) create certain security interests over their assets, in cach case. subject to carve-outs from such
limitations,

The VM Credit Facility requires the borrowers 1o obscrve certain affirmative undertakings or covenants. which
covenants are subject to materiality and other customary and agreed exceptions. In addition. the VM Credit
Facility also requires compliance with various financial covenants such as Senior Net Debt to Annualised
EBITDA and Total Net Debt to Annualised EBITDA, each capitalised term as defined in the VM Credit
Facility.

In addition o customary default provisions, the VA1 Credit Facility provides that any event of default with
respect 10 indebtedness of £50.0 million or more in the agpgrepate of the company. and its subsidiaries is an
event of default under the VA Credit Facility.

The VAL Credit Facititn permits certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group \o make certain
distributions and restricted payments w its parent company (and indirectly 10 Liberty Global} through loans.
advances or dividends subject to compliance with applicable covenants.

Rextrictions
The agreements governing the senior notes and the senivr credit facility significantly. and. in some cases.
absolutely restrict the groups abiliny and the apility of most of its subsidiaries o:

* incur or puaranice additional indebtedness:

pay dividends or make other distributions, or redeem or repurchase equity interests or subordinated
obligations:

make investments:

sell assets. including shares in subsidiaries:

create liens:

enter into agreements that restrict the restricied subsidiaries’ abibity o pas dividends. transfer assets or
make intercompany koans:

merge or consolidate or transter substantialiy all ot the group's assets: and

enter into transactions with affiliates.

L I N -
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I8 Leases

General
We enter into leases for network equipment, real estate and vehicles,

ROU assets
Right-ofouse asscts tefated to leased properties that do not meet the defimition of investment property are
presented as property. plant and equipment.

2019
£ million
Land and Build )
Networhk 8.2
Other 181.5
201.2
Additians to the right-of-use assets during the 2019 financial vear were £47.000,000
Amaounts recognised in profi
I'he income statement shows the following amounts related to leases:
2019
£ million
Depreciation charge of right-ot-use assets:
Land and Buildings 1.5
Nelwork 34
Other 37.1
42.0
Interest expense 108
Short-term lease expense -
528
I'he total cash outflow for leases in 20149 was £48.000.000.
Lease liahilities
Maturities of our fease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 arc presented below:
2019
£ million
Less than one year 6.3
One to Five years i30.7
Aore than five years ' 197.6
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 3756
Intpact of finance expenses a4 h
Lease liability included in the statement of Bnancial position 22015
Curremt 33
Non Curremt | 83.4
Check 2205

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied 10 the fease lisbilities on | January 2019 was
5.64%.

A
(%)
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19

20

Provisions
Property
related Other
costs provisions Total
£ million £ million £ million
At 31 Decernber 2018 and | January 2019
Current 24 3 )
hon-current 119.9 4.0 1239
122.3 7.1 1294
Established during the year (1.6} 338 3z
Used during the year 3.9} (35.8) (39.9;
Revisions in cashiftow estimates 1.3 - 1.}
Movement in discount rate 54 - 54
AL 31 December 2019 123.5 3.0 128.5
Analysed as: :
Current L4 22 3.6
Non-cument 1221 29 124.9
1235 N 128.5

Property reluted costs
Property related costs expecied to be incurred are mainly in refation to dilapidations costs or leasehoid
propurties. The majurity of the costs arv expecied o be incurred over tie nest 25 years.

Cther provisions
Other provision elements mainly consist of National insurance contributions on share options and restricted
stock unit grants and redundancy costs restdting from restructuring programmes.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The group's principal financial liabilities. other than derivatives, comprise bank loans {senior credit facility).
senior notes, senjor secured notes. finance leases, vendor financing. trade payables. hire purchase contracts and
loans made 1o parent and fellow group undertakings. With the exception of trade payables the main purpose of
the financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Virgin Media group's operations. The group has various
financial assets such as trade receivables and cash amd short term deposits. which asise directly from its
operations.

The group is exposed to various market risks. including credit risk. forcign exchange rate risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk, Market risk is the polential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. As
some of the group’s indebtedness accrues imerest at variable rates there is exposure to volatility in future cash
flows and earnings associated with variable interest pay ments.

Imterest and principal obligations on some indebtedness are in LS. dollars and euros. As a result the proup has
exposure to volatilits in future cash Mlows and eamings associated with changes in foreign exchange rates on
pavments of interest and principal amounts on a portion of its indebtedness.

The group has entered into various derivalive IRStPaments to manage interest rate rish. und foreign exchunge
risk with respect to the LS. dofar, comprising of interesl rate swaps. cross-currency inerest rate swaps and
foreign currency forward contracts. The objective is to reduce the volatility af the group's cash flows and
carnings caused by changes in undetiving rates.

T he main risks arising from the group's finuncial labilities are described below:

Interest rate rish

The group is subject 1o interest rate rish because 1t has substantial indebtedness at variable rates ot interest. At
31 December 2319, before taking into account hedging instruments. interest is determined on a variable busis
on E4.014.6 million (2018 - £3.363.3 millions of 32%0 (2018 - 29%) of indebtedness. relating solely to amounts
drawn down on the senior credit facilities. The group aims to reduce the volatility ot its cash flows and earnings
as a result of fluctuations in interest rates through the use of derivative financial instruments.

(]
tad
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

Interest vate risk profife of financial awi
The group’s financial assets include cash or money market deposit at call. seven day and monthly rates, and
amourls owed by parent undenakings and related parties charged at variable interest rates.

Seasitivity analvsis of ehanges in inlerest roafes

Interest rate risks are presented by way of a sensitivity analysis in accordance with IFRS 7 Finencial
Instruments, Disclosures’. These show the effects of changes in market interest rates on interest pay ments.
interest income and ¢xpense, other components und. as appropriate. equity . The interest rate sensitivity analyses
are based on the following assumptions:

*  Changes in market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest rates only
alfect income if measured at fair value. As such, all financial instruments with fixed interest rates that
are carried at amortised cost are not subject [o interest rate risk as defined by {FRS 7.

* Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-derivative variable-
interest financial instruments, the interest payments of which are not designated as hedged items of
vash flow hedges apainst interest rate rishs. As a consequence. they are included in the calculation of
interest rate sensitivities,

¢ Changes in the market interest rate of interest rate derivatives tinterest rate swaps and cross-curency
interest rate swaps) that are not part of a hedging relationship as set out in IFRS O “Pinuncial
Instruments affect gains or losses on denvatives and are thercfore taken into consideration in the
calculation of interest rate sensitivities.

*  Foreign currency forward rate contracts are not subject to interest rate rishs and theretore do not affect

interest rate sensiti vities, )
Based on debt at 31 December 2019, including amounts owed to and due from parent and group undertakings.
and taking into consideration hedying instruments, a 0.25% movement in marhet interest rates would result in
an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest incomesexpense of £8.6 million (2018 - a 0.25%° movement
in market interest rates would result in an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest income’expense of
£8.3 million). Movements in gross interest expense wouwld be recognised in finance income and finance costs in
the Group Income Swatement,

Foreign curvency exchange rale risk

The group is also subject to foreign currency exchange risks because interest and principal obligations with
respect to a portion of its indebtedness is denominated in VLS. dotlars and euros. I'o the extent that the pound
dectines in value against the LS. dollar and the euro. the effective cost of servicing U.S. dollar and cura
denominated debt witl be higher. Changes in the exchange rate result in foreign currency gains or lusses,

As of 31 December 2019 the group had £4.8%0.3 million (20018 - £5.522.9 million), or 41% (2017 45%) of
eaternal indebtedness, denominated in U S dollars and £1,622.9 milion (2018 - £413.3 million), o1 9962018 -
a1 of external indebtedness. derominated in curos (see note [7) The group has a programme in place to
mitigate the cish of losses arising from adverse changes in lorvien currency exchange rates which uses a number
of derivative financial instruments. When tahing into consideration cross currency interest rate swaps angl
toreign currency lorward rate comracts. the majority of onvternal debt s hedged against foreitn currency
exchanye rate rish,

bor the year ended 31 December 2009 the proup had foreign curreney gaias ot £200.7 million (2018 fosses of
£326.1 milliont.

The gains tor the year ended 3F December 2019 were primarily due o the strengthening of pound sterling
relative to the 1.5, dolkar in respect of the U S, dollar denominated debt issued by the group, partially oftfset by
the LS. dollar denominated debt advanced 1o group undertakings. The losses for the vear ended 31 December
2008 were primarily duc 1o the weakening of pound sterling relative 1o the 128, dollar in respect of the 1'%,
dollar deneminated debi issued by the group. partially ofTset by the U .S dellar denominated debt advanced o
wroup undertakings.
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

Sunsitivity analysis of changes in foreign vurrency exchane rdles

For the presentation of market risks. IFRS 7. ‘Financial Instrumernis  Disclionures’ requires sensitivity analysis
that shows the effects of hypothetical changes of foreign cumrency exchange rates of relevant risk variables on
profit or |oss and shareholders' equity. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes
in risk variables 1o the balance of financial instruments at the reporting date. It is assumed that the balance at the
reporting date is representative of the vear as a whole.

Cuwrrency risks are defined by IFRS 7 as arising on account of financial instruments being denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency and being of a monetary nature. Relevant risk variables are
generally all non-functional currencies in which the group has financial liabilities. excluding amounts due to
parent undertakings.

The currency sensitivity analysis is based on the following assumptions:

“Major non-derivative monetary financial instruments (liquid assets, receivables and finance lease liabifities) are
directly denominated in the functional curvency. There are therefore no foreign exchange fluctuations in respect
of these instrumenis which have an effect on profit or loss or shareholders’ equity. Interesl income and expense
{rom financial instruments are also either recorded in the functional currency or transferred to the functional
currency using derivatives.

The group has a number of derivative instruments with various counterparties to manage its exposure (o
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations, on which the financial instruments are
based. affect gains or losses on derivatives in the finance income or finance costs lines. respectively, of the
Group lacome Statement.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the pound sterling against
L.S. doflar and euro exchange rates with all other variables remaining constant. of the group’s profit before tax.
Due to foreign exchange translation of monetary assets and liabilities. the impact of translating the net assets of
foreign operations into sterfing is exciuded from the sensitivity analysis:

Incresse/ Efecton
decreast m  profitloss)
exchange before tav

rates £ million
i
Sterling1*S. dollar - 823
Sterbing 'S Gutlar Rl VIR
Stering eura - 2662
Sterling evia MHPa [BEGRY
018
Serling 'S dollar EAR
Sterling US dollar [ 1
Sterling eutiy NEX]
Sterling vuta [URRY}

Liguidiiy risk wad capital managemen

The company is a wholly uwned subsidians and its shimate parent company is Liberts Global pie. Capital
management policies are operated at a \ irgin Viedia group level by the management uf Liberty Glabal ple, The
agreements that govern the Virgin Media group's indebtedness set out financial maintenance tests and restrictive
covenants, and it is the policy of the Virgin Media group to maintain adequate headroom against these tests and
cavenants, .

n
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

The Virgin Media group's business is capital intensive and the Virgin Media group is bighly leveraged. The
Virgia Media group has significant cash requirements for operating costs. capital expenditure and interest
expense. The level of the Virgin Media group’s cupital and operating expendilures are attected by significant
amounts of capital required to connect customers to the nerwork. expand and upprade ‘the network and offer
new services. Cash on hand, together with cash [rom operations and an undrawn credit Faciiity, are expected 10
be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's cash requirements through to t2 months from the date of this report.
The Virgin Media group has significant scheduled repayments that may need lo be financed through means
other than reliance vn cash flow from operations. such as raising additional debt or equity. refinancing the
existing facility. possible loans from parent undertakings or related parties. sale of assets or other means. 1t may
not be possible to obtain adequate financing. or sell assets at alt. or on favourable terms. or the terms of the
senior credit facility or senior notes may prevent the Virgin Media group from incurring additional indebtedness
of selling assets.

As of 31 December 2019 the group had £11.929.6 million of external debt including finance leases. vendor
financing and net of deferred finance costs) outstanding. compared o £12.371.0 millior as of 31 December
2018 and cash and cash equivalents of £33.9 million compared 1o £16.2 milfion at 31 December 2018.

The principal amount outstanding under the senior credit tacikity at 31 December 2019 was £4,013.6 million
(2018 - £3.363.7 million). The senior <redit facility comprises two term facilities denominated tn pounds
sterling of €400 0 million and £499.0 million respectively 12018 £400.0 million and £499 0 million). one term
facility denominated in U.S. dollar of £2.482.0 miilion (2048 - £2.664.6 million). one term facitity denominated
in curo of £633.4 (2018 - £nil} and one revolving facility of £1,000.0 million (2018 two revolving facilities of
£625.0 miilion and £50.0 million). At 31 December 2019, £4,014.6 million (2018 - £3.539.8 million) of the
term Facilities net of issue costs had been drawn. The group had £675.0 million available of its revolving credit
facilities for bank guaranices and standby letters of credit,

The group does nat have any scheduled principal payments on its senior netes and senior credil facility until
2022, However. if the group was unable o meet repayment conditions or service these obligations through cash
Mows from aperations. then it would need to secure additional funding such as raising additional debt or equity.
refinancing the existing facility. selling assels or using other means. [t may not be possible to obtain financing
or self assets, at all or on favourable twerms, or the group may be contractually prevented by the terms of its
senior notes or senior credit facility from incurring additional indebtedness or selling assets.

A maturity analysis of financial liabilities. outstanding at 31 December, showing the remaining contractual
undiscounted amounts payable. including interest commitments. is shown below:

Less Greater than
than | year 1o Syears 5 vears Total
2019 £ million £ million £ million £ million
Senior credit facilin. senior notes and senior
secured notes S45.3 3603 459 7 13,6653
N endor MNinancing 1.871 7 81.f - 19528
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 86 28.2 134.6 F71.4
Derivative contracts 638 193.6 272.0 3364
2018
senior eredit faciity . sensor notes and senior
secured notes 3.3 AA00.2 10, 187.8 43413
vendor financing 19427 437 27 1.994.1
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 9.6 2835 1355 1736
Derivative contracts 09 798 2839 TG

The above amounts exclude other financial liabilities. such as trade payabfus, which are all repayable in less
than one year. Amounts vwed to parent and group uhdertakings have also been escluded as they are repayable
on demand.
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21

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party 10 a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. The group's financial instruments that are exposed (o concentrations of credit
risk consist primarily of cash, trade receivables and derivative contracts.

Al 31 December 2019, the group had £33.9 million (2018 - £16.2 miliion) in cash and cash equivalents. These
vash and cash equivalents are on deposit with a number of major financial instituwiions and. as pan of the Virgin
Media group’s cash management process. regular evaluations of the credit standing of these institutions are
performed using a range of metrics. The group has not experienced any losses in vash balances and
management do not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on its cash balances.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivabies are limited because of the farge number of
customers and their distribution across a wide geographic area. The Virgin Media group performs credit
evaluations of its business customers” financial condition and gencrally does not require collateral. No single
Eroup or customer represents greater than 10% of fotal accounts receivable.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to derivative contracts are focused within a limited number of
international financial institutions with which the Virgin Media group transacts and relate only 1o derivatives
with recorded asset balances. The Libenty Global group performs regular reviews of the financial institutions
with which it transacts as 1o their credit worthiness and financial condition. The group includes a credit risk
adjustment based upon the credit default swap spread in the valuation of derivative instruments. however. the
group does not expect there to be any significant non-performance rishs associated with its counterparties.

Financial Instruments
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - financial risk management

The company and group have obligations in a combination of US dollars, curos. and pounds sterling at fixed
and variable imterest rates. As a result the group is exposed to variability in its cash flows and carnings resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

The group’s objective in managing its exposure to inlerest rates and foreign currency eachange rates is to
decrease the volatility of its earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
established policies and procedures to govern these exposures and has entered nto derivative financial
instruments includinyg inlcrest rate swaps. cross-cufrency interest rate swaps and loreign cumrency forward rate
contracts. Subsidiaries of Virgin hedia Finance PL.C hold financial instruments which hedge the foreign
currency risk of debt issued by its feilow group undertakings, 16 is the group's pohicy hat Lo enter inko derivative
financial instruments for speculative trading purposes, aor 1o enter into derivative financial instruments with a
level of complexity or with a risk that is greater than the exposure to be managed. The amounts below include
amounts relating 1o short lerm as well as long term pay ables.

W ith the exception of a limited number of foreign currency forward contracts, the zroup has elected not to
dusignate derivative nstruments as accounting hedges. although these remain economic hedyes.
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21 Financial Instruments (continued)

I'he fair values of derivative financial instruments recognised in the Group Balance Sheet are as follows:

Inac fuched within current assen

Fuir vadue hodies
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rale swaps

Derivatives not designuied as hedues
Interest rate swaps
Crass-currency interest rale swaps
Foreipn Currency Forward Contract

Included withint noR-carvent assers
Fuair value hedoes
Interest rate swaps
Cross<currency interest rate swaps
Derivanives wot designaicd uy ledizes
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps

Inclwded within current liabifiues:
Derivatives not deviginaied as hedyes
Interest rate swaps
Crosscarrency inferest ratke swaps
Foreign Currency Forward Contract

Included within nen-curront fiubilitios,
Derivatives not designared as hedgey
Interest rate swaps ¢
Cross-currency erest raie »waps

2019 2018
£ million £ million
17.7 i7.1
58 10.0
276 219
33 924
- 1.6
824 143.0
89 1n7
316 75.7
733 377
309 6058
4309 741.9
1261 47.2
7.0 34.7
0.5 -
133.6 81.9
2410 2423
16).8 0.4
J02.8 2027

Cross-currency interest rate swaps - hedging the principal und interest payments of senior notes and

senior credit Facility

The terms of the group’s cutstanding cross-currency interest rate swaps. which are used to mitigate the interest
and foreign exchange rate rishs relating to the pound stedding value of principal and interest pas ments on (1S,
doflar and euro denominated senior notes and senjor secured notes at 3t December 2019, were as follows:

Final maturity

date of hedges fledpe Lype
Jarnuary 2023 ot designated
April 2019 - Januany 2028 ot designated
January 2021 Fair value
Janiuary 2025 ot designated

Notional

amount

duc from

counierparts

million
S246.3
$10.584 7
82724
£2,296.2

“otionul
amount Weighted
duc tn average
counterparty remaining
million life
€271 30
£7.835.0 5.8
£168.6 1.0
%3.300.0 s



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2] Financia| instruments (continued)

Interest rate swaps - hedging of interest rate sensitive obligations

As of 31 December 2049, the group had outstanding interest rate swap agteements (o nanage the exposure to
variability in future cash flows on the interest payments associated with its senior credit facility which accrues
at variable rates based on LIBOR. The group has also entered imo inferest rate swap agreements 1o mahage its
exposure to changes in the fair value of certain debt obligations due to interest rate fluctuations. The interest
rate swaps allow the group to receive ot pay interest based on six month LIBOR or fixed rates in exchange for

payments or receipts of interest at six month LIBOR or

fixed rates,

The terms of the group’s outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Final matrity

dute of hedge Hedge type Pay fixed rate Receive fixed rate
Weighted Weighted
Notional average Notional average
million remaining life million remaining life
January 2020 - January 2025  Not designated €1.1143 2 €714.7 42
January 2023 Not designated - - $354.5 5.0
January 2620 - Mav 2027 Not designated £15.35290 2.7 £7.202.1 17
January 2021 Fair value - - £628.4 (Kt

The notional amounts of multiple derivative instruments that magure within the same calendar month are shown
inaggregate.

Interest rate swaptions

The group has entered into various interest rale swap options (swaptions). which give the right, but no
obligation, 1o enter ino certain interest rate swap contracts al set dates in the future, with each such contract
having a life of no more than threc vears. At the transaction date. the strike rate of each of these contacts was
above the corresponding market rate.

The terms of outstanding interest rate swap option contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Notional Weighted
amount Underlying  average option
due from swap expiration
Final macurity date Hedge type counterparty currencs period
million
October 2022 - January 2026 Not designated £5.342.4 £ 1.0
January 2023 .« January 2025 Not designated £364.0 3 1%}
Basis Swaps
The terms of vutstanding basis swap vontracts at 31 December 2019 were as tollows:
. Nolional Notional Weighted
amount amount average
due from due to remaining
Final maturity date Hedge type counterparty  tounterparty life
miltion million
July 2020 ot designated £900.4 £200.0 n.s
July 20260 ot designated £3.300.0 33000 0s
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Foreign currency fornard options and forward contracts

The group has entered into external forcign currency torward optivns and foreign cuceency Torward contracts in
order 10 manage foreign currency exposure risk with respect to indian rupee (INR3,

Fuoreign currency forward options

T'he fotlowing foreign currency forward uptions with a third panty were in place at 31 December 2019:

Exchange currency Notional amount
million
Indian rupee £1.5

Foreign currency forward contraces
I'he following foreign currency forward contracts with a related pany were in place at 31 December 2019

Maturity dates Currency purchase forward Currency sold forward

milllion milllion
January 2020 - June 2020 $10.0 £7.9

Cash flow hedges

The group has elected not w designate defivative instruments as accounting hedges. although these remain
economic hedges. Uhe group has recognised effective portion of pains on losses in the unrealised gains and
losses in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income as result of historic derivative instruments that were
designated as cash flow hedges and hedges of commercial operational contracts,

Changes in the fair values ol derivative instruments are recorded as gains or losses on derivative instruments in
the Group Income Statement in the period in which they occur. The following table presents movements in
Other Comprehensive Income related to cash How hedges for the year ended 31 Devember 20709:

Cross
currency
interest rate
Total swaps Tax effect
£ million £ million £ million
Balame at 31 December 2048 53 1564 2.9
Amounts recognised in Statement of
Comprehensive Income reclassilied to carnings 34 54 -
Balanve at 31 December 2019 10.7 (10.2) 0.9

{ncluded within amounts reclassified to carnings is €34 milfion of net losses that have been recycled from the
vash flow hedge reserve through the income statement in respeet of swaps Tor which cither designation was
revohed. or the hedged instrument was settled as part ot retinancing actisities

Fair v alue hedges
For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair volue accounting hedges, the gain or fasy on

derivatives is recognised in the Group [ncome Statement in the period in which they oceur. together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged debt obligations due to changes in the hedged risks.
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Set out below is a camparison by category of carrving values and fair values of the group’s financial assets and
financial liabikities, where different. as at 31 December:

2019 2019 2018 2018
Carrying value Fair value Carrying vaiue Fair value
£ million £ million £ million £ million

Senior credit facility (3.998.41 4.126.8} (3.539.8) 13.609.4)
5.25% L1.S. dollar senior notes due 2022 138.9) (39.7) 149.7) (49.6)
4.875°% LS. dollar senior notes due 2022 (54.4) 155,04 (58.5) (57.6)
5.125% pound sterling senior notes due 2022 (44.2) 14400 4.3} (4.1
6.175%, pound sterling senior notes due 2024 - - 1298.4) (302.3)
6% L1.S, doliar senior notes due 2024 1372.6) (3873 (387.3) £377.1)
4,5%, curo senior notes due 20235 (386.7) {400.7) {409.9) 1409.7)
3.75% LS. dollor senior notes due 2023 1291.4) (302.51 3 (296.2)
3.50% pound sterling senior secured notes due 202 - - (106.9) (113N
R38%, Ui S dollar senior secured notes due 2021 - - 13154.6) 3480
5.5% pound sterling seniot secured notes due 2025 - - {385.8) 1386.0)
5.5% U.S. dollar senior notes due 2025 - - (277.3) 1274.2)
3.125% pound sterling senior sccured aotes due 2025 - - (208.0) 1208.4)
6 0% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 {539.9) (575.4) {3327 (579.H
5.25%;, U.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 - - 1786.0) (723.00
5.5% U.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 (561.7) (595.9) {583.9) (549.0)
4.875% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 (523.6) 1549.9) (5239 (494.8)
5.0% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 (672,01} {717.6) (671.6) (639.5)
6.25% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 (360.7) {385.3) t400.8) (4)2.9)
3.50% LU.S dollar senior secured noles due 2029 (1.077.3) (1.142.4) - -

5.25% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 (340.1) 1368.9) - -

4.25% pound sterling senior secured notes due 203() (196.49 (408.5) - -

The carnving values of amounts not listed above approsimate their fair values.

The group uses the following hicrarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial imstruments by
valuation technigue:

Level | Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabifistes.

Level 2 U nadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or lisbilities: o
Unadjusted quoted prices for identical or sintilar assets or liabilities in markers that are not active: or
Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assct or liabilits

Ievel 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liahikin,

The group endeavours to utilise the best available information in measuring Fair value. Financial assets and

tiabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level ol input that is significant to the fair value
measuremens.
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22

Financizl Instruments (continued)

As at 3 December 2019, the fair value of the financial instruments held by the group is as follows:

Level t Level2 Level 3 Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million
Financial assets at falr value

Cash. short term deposits and restricted cash 559 - - 559
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 3856 - AL RN ]
Imerest rate swaps - 127.7 - 123.7
339 S133 - 569.2

Financiud liabilities at fair value
Senior credit facility 4126 8 - - 4.126.8
Senior notes 12292 - - 12292
Senior secured notes 28243 - - 28243
Cross-currency interasl rate swaps - 168 8 - 1688
Interest rate swaps - 348 4 18.7 3671
Foreign currency forward rate contracts - 0.5 - Q.5
8.180.3 3177 18,7 8.716.7

In estimating the fair value of othber financial instruments. the group used the tollowing methods and
assumprions:

Cash and short term deposits, and resincted cash: The carrying amounts reported in the Group Balance Sheet
approximate fair value due to the short maturity and nature of these financial instruments.

Dervative financial mstruments  As a resull of the group’s financing activities. i1 is exposed to market risks
from changes in interest and foreign currency exchange rates. which may adversely affect its operating resufts
and tinancial position. W hen deemed appropriate. the group minimises rishs from interest and foreign currency
exchanpe rate fuctuations through the use of derivative hinancial instruments. | he foreign currency forward
rate contragts, interest rate swaps (¢xcluding swaptions) and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued using
broker guotations, or market transactions in either the listed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-
performance risk. As such. these derivative instruments are classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Due to the lack of Level 2 inputs for the swaption valuations, the group believe these vatuations fall under
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy,

Senior oes sertior secired nofes dand credir favitios - The fair values of the senior credit facility. senior notes
and senior secured noes in the abave table are based on the quoted marhet prces in active markets for the
underlying third parts debt and incorporate non-performance risk. Accordingly. the inputs used to value the
settior motes and senior secorgd notes are classified within level |of the tair value hierarchy

BDuring the year. there were no ransfers betsween Level |, Level 2 and Level 3.

Fquity share capital

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
tlloned calted up amd fndly pard
76 184 (2018 - 76,184} ordinan shares of £1 each T 76

62




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 3| December 2019

23 Share-based payments

The group’s employees are entitled to partake in Liberty Global pic share-based schemes. These share schemes
consist of stock options and performance plans including stoch appreciation rights {"SARs”™). performance-
based share appreciation rights ("PSARs™). restricted stoch. restricted stock units ("RSLs™} and performance
share units ("PSUs™). The schemes provide share based compensation o individuals under the conditions
describe below. The grant date fair values for options. share appreciation rights (SARs) and performance-hased
share appreciation righis (PSARs) are estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. and the grant
date fair values for restricted share units (RSUs) and performance-based restricted share units {PSUs) are based
upon the closing share price of Liberty Global ordinary shares on the date of grant. We calculate the expected
life of options and SARs granied by Liberty Global 10 employees based on historical exercise trends. The
arrangements are equity settled with the employees. Liberty Global recharges the group for share schemes made
avaitable to the group employees.

Full detailed information on the group's share based payments are disclosed in the financial statements of
Virgin Media Inc. which are available on Liberty Global's website at www . liberty global.com.

The income statement charge for share based payments for the year was £45,] million 12018: £27.2 million;.

Liberty Global Share Incentive Plans

as of December 11, 3019, we are authorised to grant incentive awards under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive
Plan and the Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan. Generally. we may grant non-qualified
share options, SARs, PSARs, restricted shares. RSL s. cash awards, performance awards or any combination of
the foregoing under either of these incentive plans (collectively. awards). Ordinary shares issuable pursuant 10
awards made under these incentive plans will be made available from either authorized but unissued shares or
shares that have been issued but reacquired by our company. Awards may be granted at or above fair valug in
any class of ordinary shares. The maximum number of Liberty Global shares with respect to which awards may
be issued under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Global 2014 Nonempioyee Director
Incentive Plan is 155 million {of which no more than 50.25 miltion shares may consist of Class B ordinary
shares) and10.5 million, respectively, in each case. subject to anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions in
the respective plan. As of December 31. 2019, the Liberty Giobal 2014 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Global
3014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan had 71,262,640 and 8.652.029 ordinary shares available for grant.
respectively.

Awards {other than performance-based awards) under the Liberty Global 2014 {ngentive Plan generally (i) vest
12.5°% on the six month anniversary of the grant date and then vest at a rate of 6.25%a ¢ach quarter thereafter
and (ii) expire seven years after the grant date. Awards (other than RSL s} issued under the Libenty Globat 2014
Nenemployee Director Incentive Plan generally vest in three equal annual instalments, provided the director
continues 1o serve as director immediately prior o the vesting date. and expire seven years after the grant date.
RSU's vest on the date of the first annual weneral meeting of shareholders following the grant date. These
awards may be granted at or above fair value in any class of ordinary shares.

Liberty Globzl Performance Awards

The following is a summary of the material terms and conditions with respect to Liberty (Hobal’s performance-
based awards lor cenain executive officers and key employees tor which anards were yranted under the Libeny
Global Incentive Plan and the Virgin Media Incemive Plan.

Liberiy Cilobal PST 5

In March 05, Liberts Global's compensation commitiee approved the grant of PSLUs to executive otficers and
key emplosees (the 2015 PSL's). The performance plan for the 2015 P5L s covercd a two-sear period ending 31
Diecember 2016 and included a performance target based on the achievement of a specified compound annual
grawth rate {CAGR) in a consolidated operating cash flow metric ¢as defined in the applicable underlying
ageeement). The performance target was adjusted for events such ay acquisitions. dispositions and changes in
foreign currency exchange rates that affect comparabilin (OCF CAGR. and the paricipant’s anpual
performance ratings during the two-year performance period. Participants eamed 99.5% of their tarpeted

awards under the 2015 PSUs, which vested 50% on each of | April 2017 and | October 2017.
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Share-based pavments {continued)

in February 2016, Liberty Global's compensation committee approved the grant of PSUs to executive officers
and key employees (the 2016 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the achievement of a
specified OCF CAGR duning the three-year pesiod ending December 31, 2018, The 2016 PSUs require delivery
of a compound annual growth rate of our consolidated OCF CAGR of 6.0 during the three-year performance
period. with over- and under-performance payout opportunities should the OCF CAGR exceed or fail to meet
the targel. as applicable. The performance payow may be adjusted at the compensation committee’s discretion
for events that may affect comparability. such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates and accounting
principles or policies. The 2016 PSUs will vest 30%0 on each of | April 2019 and | October 2019, During 2018.
the compensation commitiee of Liberty Global's board of directors approved the grant of PSUs 10 executive
uofficers and key employees (the 2018 PSUis) pursuaet to 8 performance plan thai is based on the achievement of
a specified Adjusied OIBDA CAGR during the two-vear period ending 31 December 2019. The 2018 PSUs
include over- and under performance payout opportunities should the Adjusted OIBDA CAGR exceed or fail to
meet the target, as applicable. A perfortnance range of 50% to 125% of the target Adjusted OIBDA CAGR wiH
generally result in award recipients eaming 30% 1o 150% of their warget 2018 PSUs. subject to reduction or
forfeiture based on individual performance. The carned 2018 PSL s will vest 50° on | April 2020 and 50°s on
I CQictober 2020. The target Adjusted OIBDA CAGR for the 2018 PSLs was determined on 26 October 2018
and. accordingly. associated compensation expense has been recognised prospectively from that date.

Libern Cilobal Challenge Performuncye iwardy

Eifective 24 June 2013, Liberty Global’s compensation commitice approved the Challenge Performance
Awards, which consisted solely of PSARs for Liberty Global's senior executive ofticers and a combination ol
PSARs and PSUs For other executive officers and key empioyees. Each PSU represented the right to receive
one Liberty Giobal or LiL. AC Class A or Class C ordinary share. as applicable. The performance criteria for the
Challenge Performance Awards was based on the participant's performance and achievement of individual
goals in each of the years 2013, 2014 and 2015, As a result of satisfying performance conditions. 1000 of the
then outstanding Challenge Performance Awards vested and became fully excreisable on 24 June 2016, The
PSARs have a term of seven years and hase prices equa! to the respective market closing prices ot the
applicable class on the gran date.

Vargn Media Stock Inceniive Plany

Equity awnards were granted (o certain of the group’s employees, prior to Liberty Global's acquisition of Virgin
Media in June 2013, under cerain incentive plans maintained and administered by the group and ro new grants
will be made under these incentive plans. The equity awards granted include stock options, restricted shares,
RSE's and performance awards. Awards under the VAL Incentive Plan have a t0-year term and become fully
exetcisable within five years of continued employ ment.

Reserves

Lgtuny share capital
The balance classified as share capital represents the nominal value on 1ssue of the company’s equity share
capital. comprising £1 ordinary shares,

Nhare premivem wecownd
Share preminm represents the amount of consideration received for the company s cquity share capital in excess
of the nominal value of shares 1ssued.

Freanary share reseive
I he treasuny share reserve was created s 2014 and subsequently cancelled in 2018 as a result of group wide
eestructures involving the company and feliow \irgin Media group companies,

Other capited reserves comprising merger vexenve avid capiial contributions
The results of subsidiary underahings acquired through group reorganisations hase given rise o the
requirement to mahe adjustments on consolidation in the merger reserve.

U ntrealised gaim and fosses
I'his reserve records the portion of pain or loss on hedging instruments that are determined to be effective
hedues. and the exchange differences on retransiation ol foreign operations.

64



Yirgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financizl Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 201%

24

26

27

Reserves (continued)
Fareign currency transiulion reserve
This reserve records the gain or loss on the retransiation of subsidiary undenakings with functional currencies

other than pound stering,

Retetined earmings
This reserve records alf current and prior period resained profit and losses.

Capital commitments

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the accounts 3317 314.3

Contingencies

On 19 March 2014. the UK government announced a change in legistation with respect to the charging of VAT
in connection with prompt payment discounts such as those that the group offer to fixed-line telephony
customers. This change. which took effect on | May 2014, impacted the group and some of its competitors. The
LIk tax authority issued a decision in the fourth quarter of 2015 challenging the croup’s application of the
prompt payment discount tules priof 1o the | May 2014 change in legislation. Fhe group appealed this decision.
As part of the appeal process. the group were required to make aggregate payments of £67.0 million.
comprising of the challenged amount of £63.7 million (which the group paid during the fourth quarter of 2015}
and related interest of £3.3 million (which the group paid during the first quarter of 2016}. No provision was
recorded by the group at that time as the liketihood of loss was not considered to be probable. The aggregate
amount paid does not include penalties, which could be significant in the event that penalties were 10 be
assessed. {n September 2018, the coun rejected the group's appeal and ruled in favour of the UK tax authority.
Accordingly. during the third quarter of 2018, the group recorded a provision for litigation of £63.7 million and
related interest expense of £3.3 million in the group’s income statement. The First Tier Tribunal gave
permission to appeal to the Upper Tribunal and the group submitted grounds for appeal on 22 February 2019.

In April 2020. the 1 pper Tribunal rejected our appeal, ruling in favour of HMRC. The Group is currently
seeking permission 1o appeal to the Court of Appeal: huwever, no assurance can be given as to the ultimate
outcome of this matter,

Pension and other post-retirement benefits

The group operates two defined benetit schemes in the UK. the NTL. Pension Plan and the 1999 ntl Pension
Scheme. and one defined benefit scheme in breland. Virgin Media Ireland Limited Defined Benefil Plan, which
provide both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. Pension benefits are related to the members”
final salany a1 retirement and their length of service.

Defined comsribution plans

[he group contributes ta the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans ot eligible employees.
Contributions are charged o the Group Income Staiement as they become pavable. in sccordance with the rules
of'the plans.

Contributions 10 the defined contribution plans during the pericd were £27.6 millon (2018 - £24.5 milliony.
The amount of outstanding contributions at 31 December 20£9 mcluded within current liabilities was €41
million (2018 - £3.6 million).
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27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plany
The group recognises any actuarial gains and losses in each peried in the Group Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

* 1999 ntl Pension Scheme

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (~1999 ntl
Pension Plan™). The plan has never been opened to new ¢ntrants except when the plan began and subsequently
on 31 May 2007, on both occasions new members were transferred from other existing plans. The Plan was
closed to future accrual on 31 Janvary 2014, The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the
company. being invested in units of exempt unit trusts. The plan is funded by the payment of comributions o
separately administercd trust funds. The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualified
actuaries on the basis of triennial vafuations using the projected unit credit method.

* NTL Pension Plan

A subsidiary. Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (~NTL Pension
Plan™). The pension plan was closed to new entrants as of 6 April 1998, The Plan was closed 1o future accrual
on 31 January 2014, T'he assels of the plan are held separately from those of the company. in an independently
administered trust. The plan is funded by the payment of contributions 1o this separately admunistered trust.
The pension costs are determined with the advice ol independent qualified actuaries on the basis of tricnnial
valuations using the projected unit credit method,

« Viegin Media Irelund Limited Defined Benelit Plan

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Ireland Limited, operates a tunded pension plan providing defined benefits 1 Virgin
Media lreland Limited Defined Benefit Plan™ previously called the “UPC Communications treland Limited
Defined Benefit Plan™). Vhe Plun was closed w future accrual on 31 July 2045, The assets ol the plan are held
separately from those of the company. in an independently administered trust. The plan is funded by the
payment of contributions to this separately administered trust. The pension costs are determined with the advice
of independent qualified actuaries on the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit method.

The plans™ assets are measured at fair vatue, he plans” liabilities are measured using the projected unit method
and discounted at the eurrent rate of retum on 8 high quality corporate bond.

1 he table below provides summany information on the group’s defined benefit plans:

2019 2008
£ million £ million
Projected benefit obligation 16170y t363.1)
I air value ot plan assets 6955 645.0
Net agsel 78.5 81.9
Net periodic pension cost [ 12
Net defined henefit assel represented by:
Net detined benefit liability (7.9 (7.8
Nei defined benelit asser RBoA 89.7
783 819
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27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

Novements in the defined benefit assets and Habilities are as

Bfined henefit ubligation

2ns 2ns
£ mithon £ millim

th Irelamd 1K Ircland
Hitanwe 31 1 Jaouary (SX0arp (X3 | (SKH K (W4T
Included im imcome Aatement
£ wirent Admin service cikg -
it service cus . - 2h -
FRIGEeS EuasTh I my LY. 7y (B W
Incleded i ¢4 |
Atuiaeial Choss b gan atising liom
Changes in demographi e . 13
assumplLons
Chanpes in finanaal assumptions iy 4 164 ne
Fxpuneice wdjustmoents [ W2 145 to
Raturn on plan assens e lwhing
meresl meome N
{rther
Conirtbutivns paid v the
emplover
{.tFects ol mvements in axchanpy . 0%
[
Henelits pad M us nz 12
Halaace at 31 December (SR1AD (3B (SML) {33.1)
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2000 b01 ]
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1999 1l Pension Scheme and NTL. Pension Plan have been disclosed within the “UK™ figures.

Virgin Media Ireland Limited Defined Benefit Plan is shown within the ~[refand™ figures.

The group’s pension plan weighted-average assel allocations by asset category at 31 December 2019 and 34

December 2018 were as follows;

2019
UK long
term rate
of return
Lyuities 5.3%
Praperty 5.3%a
Corparate bonds 2.0%
Guoverniment bonds 1.3%
Hedge Tunds 4.8%
Insurance podicy thuy-iny 2.0%
Cash and other 1.3%

Total market value of assets
Presem value of plan Habilities

Net pension asset (iability)

67

Ireland
long term
rate of
1K total return
£ million
81.7 220
23 -
196.7 2
69.0
89.2 -
IR2.5 -
J6.0 2.2%
667.4
158 1.4
86.4

Iretand total

£ million
10.8

13.2

4.1

28.1

(36.0)

7.9
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27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

2018 Ireland
'K long long term
term rate rate of
of return UK cotal return  reland total
£ million £ million
Equities 38" 754 2.2 98
Property 3.8% 10 - -
Corporate bonds 2.8% 334 2.2% 1i.3
Government bonds }.8%0 66.0 - -
Hedge funds 5.3% 212y - -
Insurance policy {buy-int 2.8% .G - -
Cash and other 1.B%s 601 2.2% 4.2
Total market vaiue of asscts 6197 . 253
Present value of plan liabilities (530, 1330
Net pension assett liability 1 8.7 17.8%

The trustees of NTL Pension Plan purchased an insurance contract 1that will pay an income stream to the plan
which is expected to mateh all future cash ouflows in respect of certain liabilities. The fair value of this
insurance contract is presemed as an asset of the plan and is measured based on the future cash flows 10 be
received under the contract discounted using the same discount rate used to measure the associated liabilities.

Actuarial assumptions .
The following are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date rexpressed as weighted averages):

2019 2018
UK  [reland UK  [reland
DNiscount rate 2.0% 1.2% 8% 2.2%
[ uture safan increases 2.0% 0.0 3.2% 0.0%

The assumption for future salary increases is no longer applicable for the Virgin NMedia Ireland Limited Defined
Benetit Plan after 31 July 2045 as the Plan way closed 1o future accrual from this date and benefits are no longer
linked 1o salaries. Members of the |k pension schemes who remained emploved by the group retain their
salary fink for revatuation of their deferred benelits.

The assumptions relating to fongevity underlying the pension habilities at the balance sheet date are based on
standard actuarial monality tables and include an allowance for future improvements i longevits. Fhe
ssumptions are equivaient o expecting a oO-year ofd o live for 4 number o sears as Erlows:

Uk
019 M8
Current pensioner aged 60 imaley 273 272
Current pensioner aged 60 {femaice) 291 Mo
Fuature retiree upon reaching 60 (male) 8.8 87
future retiree upon reaching 60 female) 0.6 .6
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27

28

Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

The assumptions for the Virgin Media Ireland Limited pension scheme are equivalent to expecting a 65-year
od to live for a number of vears as follows:

Ireland
2019 2018
Current pensioner aged 65 (male) 223 223
Current pensioner aged 65 (female) 43 243
Future retiree upon reaching 65 (male) 24.2 240
Future retiree upon reaching 65 (female) 26.2 26.1

Sensitivity analysis

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions sct out above. The following
table summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have
increased (decreased) as a result ot'a change in the respective assumptions by .25 percent.

2019 2018
UK Irefand UK Ireland
Discount rate 124,11} (14 (22.0} (L5
Inflativn 23 04 kN 04

In valuing the assets of the UK pensian fund at 31 December 2019, mortality assumptions have been made as
indicated above. If life expectancy had been changed to assume that all members of the fund lived tor one year
longer, the value of the reported liabilities at 31 December 2019 would have increased by £26.2 million before
deferred tax for the UK pensions. Life expectancy sensitivity assessment has not been carried out on the Irish
pension scheme.

The above sensitivities are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the
last full actuarial valuation at 31 December 2019 and are applied to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the
end of the reporting period for the assumptions concered. Whilst the analysis does not take account of the Tull
distribution of cash Alows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximalion to the sensitivity of the
assumptions shown.

Funding
The group expects to contribute £2.4 million to the detined benefit pension plans in 2020.

Related party transactions

During the y ¢ar, the group entered into ransactions in the ordinary course ol business with vther relaed parties.
Transactions entered into during the vear. and trading balances outstanding at 31 December with other related
parties, are as loliows:

Services Interest Interest wmounts Amounts
rendered by charged to  charged by awed by owed to
related reluted reluted reluted refated
party party party parts pariy
Kolatod parn £ mitlion £ million £ million £ millinn £ mitlion
Parent underiahings
Hne - - - - (32.2)
Rl - - - . (33t
1 ellow subapdian
urklertahings
I . - - - 1n -
2HR - - - - 3%
I iberts Gilobal group
virdestih migs
2009 225 L RIK - i3 148 9y
2018 11569 RIEE! TIRY] X 1H3 91
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18 Related party transactions (continued)

Parent underiakings

The proup is headed by Virgin Media [nc. and has been indebted to the group. which receives interest income
according to the terms of each Joan agreement. The group recharges the ultimate parent company for certain
vosts directly attributed 10 the operations of that company including allocable payroll and related expenses.

Tellow subvidiary undertaking

The net recovery of debts by Virgin Media Limited relating 1o the customers of feliow subsidiary undertakings.
namely Virgin Vledia \obile Finance Limited. through centratised debt collection and wreasury operations.
generates trading balances which arc ofTset by operating expenses and capitaf purchases that are also recharged
by Virgin Aledia Limited. Virgin Vedia Limited is an indirect subsidiary of the company whilst Virgin Media
Mobile Finance Limited is vutside the group headed by the company.

Liberiy Group undertakings

The company s ultimate parent is Liberty Global ple which also controls the group and the Virgin Media group.
Certain debt raised by the group has been passed up to Liberty Global entities that sit cutside the Virgin Media
group, The debt of £4,926 4 million (see note 121 attracts interest which Liberty Globai entities pay to the group
according to the terms of each loan arrangement.

terny and conditions of tramactions with related parties

The rerms of the loans pavable to parent undertakings are as outlined in note YR Cerain expemes are
specifically anributable 1o each company in the group. Where costs are incurred by Virgin Media Limited on
behatr of other group companies, expenses are allocated (o the other group companies on a basis that. in the
opinjon of the directors. is reasonable,

Compensution of key management personnel (including directors)
The compensation paid or payable to kex management for employee services is shown below:

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Shor-term employee benefits 10.5 42
Post-employ ment beaefits 0.1

Non-equity incentive plan 33 34

Share hased pay ments 46 1.9

185 9.5

Key munagement represents directors and members of Virgin Media's Executive Commitiee.
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29 Principal subsidizry undertakings

The investments in which the groap held at ieast 20%0 of the nominal value of any class of share capital. all of
which are unlisied. are as follows. All are reyistered in England and Wales unless otherwise noted.
Proportion
of
vorime righis

el

o . Principal

Nuhbxidiory Holding  shares held 3
i achivifes

Direct shareholdings of Virgin Media Finance PLC
Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited Ordinary 100° o Finance
{ndirect sharcholdings
NTL ( Triangle} LLC Z  Common Stoch 100% Holding
ntl Business Limited Ordinary 100%q Telecoms
ntl CableComms Group Limited Ordinan 100°% Holding
ntl Glasgow L Ordinary 56% Telecoms
ntl Kirklees Ordinan et Telecoms
Virgin Media Business Limited Ordinary 100%¢ Telecoms
Virgin Media Investments Limited Ordinary 100°%q Finance
Virgin Media lreland Limited b3 Ordinary 1009, Telecoms
Virgin Media L.imited Ordinary 100%0 Telecoms
Virgin Media Payments Limited Ordinary 100°0 Coltections
Virgin Media Senior Investments Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Virgin Media Wholesale Limited Ordinary 106% Telecoms
Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited Ordinary 100° o Telecoms

Indirect shareholdings - gaaranteed under section 349 ( € ) of the Companies Act 2006

BCMV Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Birmingham Cable Corporation Limited Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
Birmingham Cable Limited Ordinary 0% Dormant
Cable London Limited Ordinary 100%a Dormant
CableTel Herts and Beds Limited Ordinan 106 Dormant
CableTel horthern freland 1imited B Ordinan (LS Dormant
CableTel Surrey and Hampshire Limited Ordinan 100% 5 Dormant
Eurobell tHoldings) Limited Ordinan 100%0 Hoiding
nt! {B) Limited . Ordinary 100% Holding
nil 1Broadland) Limited ’ Ordinan HENE Dormant
nth 1CW s Corporation Limited Ordinary 100 Dormant
nth 1South Easty Limited Ordinary 100 Bormant
otV Ordinary 11y Dormant
nt] CableComms Surrey Ordinan VRS Dormant
nt] Midlands Limited Ordinary HE T Dormant
ntl National “etworhs Limited Ordinan 100%0 Dormant
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 ( € ) of the Companies Act 2006 (continued)
Proportion
of
veting rishis
and
Principal

Holding  shures holid )
aciivite s

Subudiaey
. . ‘orpoer
ntl Pension [rustees 1§ Limited {rdinary He o Corporate
Trustee
. . . Compor
ntl Pension Trustees Limited Ordinary 1004 oy ate
. Trustee
ntl South Central |Limited } Crdinary 100%q Dormant
ntl Telecom Services Limited Ordinary 100%6 Dormant
_— . Compaor
nil Trustees Limited COrdinary 0%, rporate
Trustee
[ elewest Communications (Dundee & Perth) Limited % Ordinary H00% o Dormanm
Telewest Communications (Glenrothes) Linnted b Ordinary 100°e Dwormant
chewest C icati i Wes .
1 ?.h.‘ucst Communications {Midiands and North Weso Ovdinan 100% Dormant
Limited .
Telewest Communivations (North £ast) Limited Ordinany 100%a Holding
I elewest Communications {Scotland) Limited b3 Ordinary 104)°e Dormanr
Telewest Communications (South East) Limited Ordinan 100 Dormant
Telewest Communications { South West) Limited Ordinary 106074 Darmant
1elewest Communications { Tyneside) Limited Ordinany 106°, Holding
[ elewest Communications Cable Limited Ordinan {LUSS Dormant
Theseus No. b Limited Ordinary 1Mo Holding
Theseus No.2 Limited Ordinary OO Holding
A\ irgin Media Employee Medical Trust Limited Ordinary 1007, arporale
Trustee
Nargan AMedia PCHC 1T Limited Ordinars Lone, Dormant
A irgin Media PCHC Limited Ordinany 100% Dormant
v A Lransfers (o 4} Limited Ordinan 100°% Dormant
Y orkshire Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100%, Dormant

1 he company will issue a guarantee under Section 3904C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 3
December 2019 in respect of the wholly owned dormant subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect
sharcholdings  guarantesd under Section 394C) ot the Companies Act 20067 The company guarantees all
outstanding labilities 1o which the subsidiary compans is subject to at 31 December 20149 until they are
satsfied in full and the guarantee is entorceable against the company by any person 1o whom the subsidian
compans is liable in respect of those Habilities. These dormant subsidiaries have laken advantage ol the
ervemption from preparing individual accounts for the year ended 30 December 2019 by virtue of Section
3040\ ot the Companies Act 2006,

[he guarantee under Section 394(C) of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the abuve subsidiaries. the
mapority of which are 100%0 ovvned. either directly or indirectls.
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29 Priancipal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 479 ( A ) of the Companies Act 2006
Proportion

af

voting righin

and

. Principal
Holding  shares held

dactivites

Suhsician

Bitbuzz LK Limited Ordinary 100%0 Tetecoms
Cable on Demand Limited Ordinary 100%a Dormant
Casey Cablevision Limited b4 Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Channel 6 Broadcasting Limited Yy Ordinary t00%0 Telecoms
Cullen Broadcasting Limited i ¥ Ordinary 100%0 Telecoms
Diamond Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100%o Holding
Flextech Limited Ordinary 100%a Dotrmant
General Cable Limited Ordinary 10020 Holding
Kish Media Limited W Ordinary 100%s Dormant
Macheo Linnted Ordinan T6% Dormant
ml (CWCY Limited Ordinary 100, Dormant
NTL CableComms Group, LLC =  Common stock 100% Dormant
nil Communications Services Limited Ordinary 100°0 Holding
nt! Glasgow Holdings Limited n Ordinary 1% Holding
nt] Kirklees Holdings Limited u Ordinary 5% Holding
ntl Rectangle Limited Ordinary 100%, Holding
P.B.N. Haldings ¥ Ordinary 100% Holding
Telewest Communications Networks Limited Ordinary 100°%6 Holding
Telewest Limited Ordinary 100°%e Holding
Tuliamore Beta Limited ¥ Ordinary 100°%a Holding
TV Three Enterprises Limited W Ordinary 100°e Dormant
TV Three Sales Limited b3 Ordinary 100% Dormant
L PC Broadband Iretand Limited k4 Ordinary 100°¢ Holding
Virgin Media Bristol LLC =z Common stock 100°s Finance
Vitgin Media Finco Limited Ordinary 100°%a Finance
virgin Media Operations Limited Ordinury 100°e Holding
Virgin Media Secretaries Limited Ordinary 100°a Dormant
Virgin Mediz Secured Finance PLC Ordinary 100% Finance
Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited Ordinary 100°, Finance
Virgin Media Television Limited W Ordinary 100 Telecoms
Virgin WiFj imited Ordinary 100%, Telecoms
AT Ireland Group Limited Ordinary 100°a Halding

Al companies are registered at 300 Brook Drive. Reading. United Kingdom. RG2 0L . unfess otherwise noted
P 3 4

below:

B Unit 3. Blachstatd Road. Kennedy W ay Endustrial Estate, Belfast, BT 11 9AP

¥ Nlacken Houwse. 39740 Mayor Street L pper, Dublin 1. DU COWE

L 1 South Gy le Crescent Lane, Cdinburgh. EH12 9EG

Z 251 Liwde Falls Drive. Wilmington. DE 19808, These entities are registered in the { S
€& 1550 Wewatta Street. Suite 1000, Denver. CO 80202
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30

3

Principaf subsidiary undertakings (continued)

I'he company has issued a guarantee under Section 479C) of the Companies At 2006 for the vear ended 31
December 2019 in respect of the subsidiaries listed abouve in section “Indircct shareholdings  puaranteed under
Section 479tCy of the Companies Act 20067, The company guarantees all outstanding liabilities to which the
subsidiars company is subject to at 31 December 2019, until they are satistied in full and the guarantee js
entorceable against the company by any persen to whom the subsidiary company is liable in respect of those
liubHities. These active subsidiarics have tahen advantage of the exemption from audit of indiv idual accounts
for the vear ended 31 December 2019 by virue of Section 4791A) of'the Companies Aot 2006,

The guarantee under Section 479(C1 of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the above subsidiaries. the
majority of which are 100°0 owned. either directly or indirectly.

Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company's immediate parent undertaking is Virgin Nedia Communications timited.

The smallest and largest group of which the company is a member and in w0 which the company s accounts
were consolidated at 31 December 2019 are Virgin Media Inc. and Liberty Global pie, respectively.

The company's uitimate parent undertak ing and controlling party at 31 December 2019 was Liberts Global ple.

Copies of the Virgin Media group accouats reterred to above whick fnclude the results of the company are
available from the company secretary. Virgin \Media. 300 Brook Drive. Reading. United Kingdom. RG? 601

In addition copies of the consolidated Liberts Global ple accounts are available on Liberty Giobal's website at
waww. liberty global.com or from the company secretary. Liberty Global ple, Gritfin House, 161 Hammersmith
Road, L.ondon. United Kingdom W6 8BS,

Post Balance Sheet Events

COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Orgamzanion declared the recent outbreah of a novel strain of coronavirus
tCOVID- 19 to be a global pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
tmposed by governments worldwide, includicg travel restrictions, sestrictions on social activiey and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the global economy. disrupted giobal supph chains and created
sighificant volatitity and disruption of finapcial markets. While it is not currenthy possible to estimate the
durativn and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse econontic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken 1o contama or mitigate its outbreak. an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and results of operations in
future pertods.

Pending joint venture transaction

(n 7 May 2020, |ibenty Global entered into a Contributon Agreement with, among others. Jelefomiva, $A
| Telefonicai. Pursuamt te this agreement, Liberty Giobal and T etefonica agreed to furm a S8 jaint venture.
which will combine Virgin Media's operations in the U K with Tetefonica™s mobike business in the UK to create
a nitiom ide integrated communications provider

I'he completion of this transaction is subject to certain conditions. including vompetition clearance by the
applicable regulatory authorities. 11 is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middfe of 2021 The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination dights, including a right of the parties Lo terminate
the agreement if the transaction has ot closed within twenty -four months following the date of the agreement,
swhich may be extended by six months under vertain circumstances.
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31 Post Balance Sheet Events (continued)

Financing transactions

In May 2020, Virgin \edia Trade Receivables Financing plc. a third-party special purpose financing entity.
was created for the purpose of facilitaling the offering of certain notes. These notes are vollateralised by certain
trade receivables of Virgin Media, creating a variable interest in which Virgin Media is the priman beneficiary
and, accordingly. Virgin Media. and ultimately Liberty Global. are required to consolidate Virgin Media Trade
Receivables Financing plc. The offering of these notes resulted in net proceeds of £214.4 million.

In June 2020. Virgin Media completed various financing transactions, as further described below.

Senior notes transactions

The group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. The net proceeds. topether with the
May 1020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €460 million and $388.7 million cutstanding principal amount
of 2025 senior notes.

The group issued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $250 million €500 million, The net

- proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (11 to redeem in full $497 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senjor notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million cutstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and {21 for general comporale purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing secured notes and subject lo certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of its exisling secured notes.

Seniar secured motes transactions
The group issued 2030 senior sccured notes with principal amounts of $650 million and £450 millien. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full £525 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2027 senior secured notes. (2) to redeem in full £360 million outstanding principal amounts
of existing 2029 senjor secured notes, (3) £80.0 miltion of the £521.3 million outstanding principal amount of
existing 2025 senior secured notes.

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group’s existing senior secured notes and senior secured
credit facility. and subject 1o certain exceptions, share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of
its existing senior secured notes.

Vendor Gnancing notes transactions

Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes I} Designated Activity Company {(Virgin Media Financing 1)
Company) and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes [V Designated Activity Company {Virgin Media
Financing 1V Company. and together with Virgin Media Financing 111 Company. the 2020 \\f Financing
Companies) were created for the purpose of issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VM Financing
Companies are third-party special purpuse financing entities that are not consolidated by Virgin Muedia or
L.iberts Global

Virgin Vedia Financing 111 Company issued sendor financing notes with principal amounts of £500 million and
£4H0 milkion. Virgin \edia Financing |\ Company issued vendor financing notes with principat amounts ot
S50 midlion. 1 he net proceeds from the June 2020 Vendor Financing Motes were used by the 2070 VA
Financing Companies to purchase certain vendor-financed receivables of Virgin Media and its subsidiaries from
previoush -existing third-party special purpose financing emtities (the Original VAl Financing Companies} and
various other third parties
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Notes 20t9 2018
£ milfion £ million

Fived assets
Investments 5 4.699.4 46994
€Current assets
Debtars due after one year 6 2.000.0 2.650.3
Debtors due within one year 6 ERE s57
Cash at bank and in hand 1.4 -

20353 2.706.0
Creditors: amounts falling due within one yeur 7 (329.5) (410.6)
Net carrent assets 17058 22954
Total assets bess current liabilities 6,405.2 6.994.8
Creditors: amounts laling due after more than one
year 8 (0135 (9.177.0)
et liabilities 12.608.3) (2.182.2)
Capitat and reserves
Share capital 10 0.1 01
Share premium account 1 625.9 625.9
Capital contribution 1t 3.0 5.0
Accumulated fosses 1 13.239.3) (28130
Shareholders' deficit (2.608.0) 12.182.2)

1 he notes on pages 78 to 87 form part of the financial statements,

The financial statenents were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behatf on
28 September 2010,

TR

R G MceNeil
Director

Company Registration Number: 050601787
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Share Treasuny Profit
Share premium  Capital shares and loss
capital sccount contributivn reserve account Total
£ million £ milion £million £ million £ million £ million
At | January 2019 0.1 625.9 50 - 128132 (2,182
Comprcheasive income for the year
Loss for the year - - - - (4261 (426.1)
As at December 2019 0.1 6259 3.0 - (3.239.3) _(2.608.3)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQLITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Share Treasury Profit
Share premium  Capitat shares and loss
capital account contribution reserve account Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

At 1 January 2018 0.l 3312 50 (28802 (23176 (1 8695
Comprehensive income for the year
Loss for the year - - - - (495.6) {495.6)
Shares isswed during the year - 182.9 - 182.9
Shares cancelled during the year - (2.880.2) - 1.880.2 - 0.0
Total transactions with ewners - (2.697.3) . 1.880.2 - 829
As at December 2018 0.1 6159 3.0 - (28132 (21822

Fhe rotes on pages 78 to 87 form part of these financial statements.
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1 Compuny information

Virgin Media Finance PLC (the “company ) is a private company incorporided. domiciled and registered in the
UK The registered number is 05061787 and the registered address is 500 Brook Drive. Reading, United Kingdom.
RG2 6ULT '

2 Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies is set out below. All accounting policies have been applied
consistently._ unless noted below.

2.1 Basis of accounting

These financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost basis in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and the Financial Reporting Standard 501 Reduced Disclosure
Framework {~FRS 10]17).

In preparing these financial statements. the company applies the recognition. meassarement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EL (= Adopted IFRSs™1 bul mahes
amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

Fhe company ‘s uftimatwe parent undertaking. Liberty CGiobal ple, includes the company in its consolidated Hnancial
statements.  The consolidated Fnancial statements of Liberty Global ple are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reponing Standards and are available o the public and may be obtained from Liberty
Global's website at www libertvglobal.com.

In these financial statements. the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the
tollowing disclosures, where required equivalent disclosures are included within the company’s consolidated
financial statements:

a cash flow statement and related notes:

disclosures in respect of related parry transactions with fellow group underakings:

disclosures in respect of capital management;,

the effects ot new but not yert effective tFRSs:

disclosures in respect of the compensation of hey management personnel: and

disclosures of wansactions with @ manggement entity thai provides key management personnrel services
the company.

As the consolidated financial statements ol the company include the equivalent disclosures, the company has
also taken the exemptions under FRS 131 available in respect of the following disclosures.

e iFRS 2 Share Bascd Pay ments in respect of group settled share based pay ments; and
* cortain Jdisclosures required by RS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7
Financial Instrument Disclasares.

o profit and loss avcomt is presented by the company as permitted by Section 408 of the Companivs Act 2006
2.2 Going concern

1 he financial statements have been approved on the busis that the company remains a poing concern. [he folluowimy
paragraphs surmmarise the basis on witich the directors have reached their conclusion,

11 1< Virgin Media's practive for operational and financial management w be undertaken at a group level rather than
tor mdividual entities that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management tor all of
Liberty Cilobals wholly owned subsidiaries are munaged on a Liberty Global group basis. As past of normat
business practice. repular cash flow Torecasts for both short and long term commitments are undertahen at group
level.
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2 Accousting policies (continued)
2.2 Going concern (continued)

Forecasts and projections prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. indicate that cash on hand. together with
cash from operations. repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn
revolving credit facilities. are expected to be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's and hence the company ‘s cash
requirements through 1o at least |2 months from the approval of these financiat statements.

Whilst the detailed cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group leved, the directors have also assessed the position
of the company. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £2.608.3 million as at 3 ¢ December 2019 and a loss for the vear
end of £426.1 million. this assessment indicates that. taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the company
will have sufficient resources, through funding from fellow subsidiary companies to meel its liabilities as they fall
due for that period. Virgin Media Inc has indicafed its intention to continue 10 make such funds available to the
company as are needed.

As with any company placing reliance on ather group entities for financial support. the dircctors acknow ledge that
there can be no certainty that this support will continue although. at the date of approvatl of these financial
statements. they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. Consequently. the directors are confident that the
company will have sufficient funds to continue o meet its liabilities as they fal! due for at least 2 months from the
date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
Consideration of the potential impact of COV 1D-19 has not altered this conclusion.

1.3 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are transiated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
The resulling exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

2.4 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initiatly recognised a1 fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Afier initial
recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amontised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase. sertlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised
respectively in finance income and finance costs.

Finance costs which are incumed in connection with the issuance of debd are deferred and set off against the
boreowings to which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
effective interest method.

.5 Investments

Investments are recorded at cost. bess provision for impairment as appropriaic.  The company assesses at each
reporting date whether there is an indication that an investiment may be impaired. 1f any such indication exists. the
company makes an cstimate of the investment’s recoserable amount. Where the carnving amount of an investment
exceeds its reconerable amount, (he investment is considered impaired and s written down o Hs recoverable
amount. A previously recognised imipairment loss is reversed only if there was an event nut foreseen in the original
impairment calculations, such as a change in use of the investment or a change in economic conditions.  fhe
reversal of impairment loss would he 1o the extent of the lower of the recaverable amount and the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no intpairment loss been recognised for the investment in prior vears.

2.6 Derivative financial instrements and hedging

The group has established palicies and procedures o govern the management ol its exposure 10 interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate rishs, through the use of derivative financial instruments. inciuding interest rate
ANAPS. CFDSS-CUITENEY interes! rate ssaps und foreign currencs forvward rate contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value un the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subseguently remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.
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Derivatives are recopmsed as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilitics when the fair value is
nepative.

2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging {continued)

The foreign currency turward rate contracts. interest rate swaps and cross-currency siurest rate swaps are valued
using internal models based on observable inputs. counterparty valuations or market transactions in vither the listed
or over-the-counter markets. adjusted for non-performance risk. Non-performance risk is based upon quoted credit
default spreads for counterparties to the coniracts and swaps. Derivative comtracts which are subject 10 master
nedting arrangements are not offset and have not provided. nor require. cash collateral with any counterparts.

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates. these josses
would generally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used to hedge underlying
commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative trading
purposes. nor does it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that is
greater than the e xposure 10 be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges. the hedging refalionship is documented at ils inception. This
documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedped item or transaction. the nature of the risk being hedged
and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expecied at inception to be highly
effective.

[ he group designates certain derivatives as gither fair value hedges. when hedging exposure to variability in the fair
value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments, or as cashflow hedyges. when hedging expusure (o
variability in cash flows that are ejther attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liabiliry
or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an effective hedging relationship. as set out in (FRS 9. must be classified as heid for
trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

I he treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges. the elfective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income. while the inetfective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken 10 other
comprehensive income are reclassified (o the profit and loss account when the hedged transaction is recognised in
profit or loss. such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. in the same line of the profit and loss account as the
recognised hedged item, Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liabilits. the gains and fosses
previously accemulated in equity are rransferred o the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or
liability.

It a forecast transaction is no loneer expected to occur. the gain or loss accumulated in equity s recounised
immediately in profit or foss. I the hedging instrument expires or is sold, temminaled or exercised without
replacement or rolloser, or il its designation as a hedge is revoked. amounts previousls recognised in other
comprehensive income remain in equity until the foreeast transaction oceurs and are reclassitied o the profit and
loss account.

Fair salue hedges

for fair value hedges, the changes n the Tair value of the hedging instrument are recopnised in profit or loss
immediately . together with any changes in the fair vatue of the hedged asset or Jiability that are aiributable to the
hedeed rish. 1 he change in the tair value of the hedping instrument and the change in the hedped item attributable 1o
the hedged rish are recognised in the fine of the profit and Joss account refating to the hedged item.

I the heduing instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover. or il s

designation as a hedge s revoked, then the fair value adjustment to the carny ing amount ot the fiedyed itern arising
from the bedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.
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3 Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the company s accounting poticies which are described above. management has not made
any critical judgements that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, except
for:

Carrying value of investments

Investments are held at cost less any nevessary provision for impairment. Where the impairment assessment did not
provide any indication of impairment. no provision is required. If any such indications exist, the carrying value of
an investmment is written down Lo ils recoverable amount.

Recoverability of intercompany debtors

{ntercompany debtors are stated at their recoverable amount less any necessary provision. Recoverabiliny of
imercompany debtors is assessed anpually and a provision is recognised if any indications exist that the debtor is not
considered recoverable.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Management uses valuation technigues to determine the fair value of financial instruments ¢where active market
quotes are not availablej and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent
with how market participants would price the instrument.

Management bases its assumplions on observable data as far as possible bul this is not always available. In that case
management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that would
be achieved in an arm’'s fengih transaction at the reporting date (see note 9).

4 Loss atiributable to members of the parent company
The loss in the accounts of the parent curnpany was £426.1 million (2018: foss of £495.6 miHion).

5  Investments

£ million
Cost and net book value:
At | January 2019 4.699 4
At 31 December 2019 1693
-Net baok value:
At 31 December 2019 4.699,1
A3l December 2018 4,699.4

Details of the principal investments in which the group or the company holds at least 200 of the nominat value of
any class of share capital. 2B of which are uniisted. can be seen in note 29 o the vonselidated financial statements.,

In the opinion of the directors the aggregate value of the investments in subsidiary undertakings 15 not less than the
amount at which they are stated in the financial statements,

81



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

6  Debtors
2019 2018
€ million £ million
Due after one year

Loan notes due from group undertakings 1833.0 22778
Derivative financial assets t67.4 1725
. 2.000.0 2,650.3

Due within one year
Dwrivative financial assets 339 537
330 537

Amounts owed by group undertakings Jdue atter one year represent loan notes which had a carrying value of
£1.833.0 million (2018 - £2.227.8 million) a1 the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominated in sterling,

bear interest of 4.89%, (subject to adjustment) and mature in April 2026,

7 Creditors: amounts faling due within one year

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Derivative tinancial liabilities 6.6 53
Interest on loan notes due 1 group undentakings 49.2 199
Interest pavable on senior nowes 231 28.6
Amounts owed to group undertakings 748 756
| oan notes due to group undertakings 1758 2810
329.5 410.6

Luan notes due to group undertakings due within one vear include boan notes which had a carry ing value of
£175.8 million (2088 - £281.0 million) at the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominated in sterling and LS
dollar, bear interest ranging from [.32%0 to 7,33% and are repayable on demand.

Amounts owed 10 group undertakings are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

8 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Loan potes due o group undertakings 7.780.7 7.608.4
Senior notes 1.187 3 1.558.7
Derivative financial liabilities 56.5 9Y
90133 917710

Luan notes due 1@ group undertakings falling due attier more than one year had a carmang vale ot £7.789.7
million {2018 - £7.608.3) at the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominaled in sterfing and L S dollar. bear

inerest st 4.89%s {subject W adjustment). and mature between Aprid 2026 and January 2028
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8  Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Borrowings are repayvable as follows:

2019 2818
£ million £ million
Amaounts falling due:
In more than two years but not more than five years 5062 151.5
[n more than five vears 8.504.3 20255
9.013.5 9.177.0
Borruwings nol whotly repayable within five vears are as follows:
2019 28
£ million £ million
|.oan noles due to group undertakings 7.789.7 7.608 .4
Senior notes 678.1 1.407.2
Derivatives liabilitics 36.5 9.9
8.504.3 9.015.5
Total borrowings comprise: 2019 2018
£ million £ million
5.25% L1.5. doltar senior notes due 2022 8.8 9.6
4.875% LS. dollar senior notes due 2022 54.0 383
5.125% Stetling senior notes due 2022 441 H.
6.00% 1.S. dollar senior notes due 2024 374.7 360.0
6.375%a Sterling doltar senior notes due 2024 - 300.0
5.75% L S dollar senior notes due 2025 2830 3138
+4.5% Euro senior notes due 2025 389.4 4133
11940 1.569.1
Less issue costs 16.8) (104}
Total senior potes 1.187.3 1.558.7

Financial instruments
The company has the following senior notes in issue¢ ay at 31 December 20149:

1) 3.25% senior notes due 15 February 2022 - the principsl amount at maturity is $51.5 miklion. Interest is
payvable semi-annuably on 15 Febroary and 15 August commencing 15 Aupust 2012,

2} 4.875% sunior nutes due 13 Februan, 2022 - the principal amount at matarits i« S71.6 mitlion. Interest is
payable serni-annualh on 15 February and 15 August commencing 15 February 2013,

3) 5.125% senjor notes due 15 Februan 2022 the principal amount at maturity is £344.1 million Interest s
payable semi-anaually on 13 February and 15 August commencing 15 February 2013

43 6.00%0 senior notes due 13 October 2024 the principal amount at matority is $497.0 mullion. Interest is
puyable semi-annually on 13 April and 15 October commencing 13 April 2015,

3} 5.73% senior noted due 15 January 2025 - the principal amount at maturity is $38%.7 million. Interest is
pasabfe semi-unnually on 13 January and |5 July commencing 15 July 2015,

6) 1.5 senior notes due 13 Januars 2025 - the principal amount at matutity is €360 0 million. Interest s
payable semi-annually on )5 January and 13 July comnencing 15 July 20135
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8 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year {(continued)

Virgin \edia Inc.. a parent company of the company. and alf the intermediate holding companivs. guarantee
the senior notes on a senior basis Viegin Media Investment Holdings Limited, a direct whotly-owned
subsidiary of the company, puaraniees the senior notes on a senior subordinated basis and has no significant
assets of its own other than its investments in its subsidiaries. The company has given a tull and unconditional
guarantee of all amounts payable under the erms of the \irgin Media group’s senior secured credit faciliy and
senior secured notes.

In junme 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions. see note 31 in the consolidated financial
stalements.

Y Financial instruments

w9 2018
£ million £ million
Financial assets

Financial assets measured at far value through profit or loss 2004 1282
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured a1 amortised cost 1.833.0 22778
AR 260

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit ot loss 3.1 (154
Financial liabilitics measured at amortised cost (9.299.9) 194.372.2)

(9.343.01 19.587.6)

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise interest rate swapy and cross currency
inlerest rate swaps.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise amounts owed by group undertakings.

financial §iabilities measured at fair vafue through profit or loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate swaps and certain other loans. -

Financial liabilities measured at amodtised cost comprise senior secured notes net of issue costs. interest
payable an senior notes. amounts owed to group undertakings. accruals and deferred income.

Derivative financial instruments are designed to mitigate the rishs experienced by the company. 1he company
has vbligations in a vombination of LS. dollars and sterling at fixed and variable interest rates. As a result. the
company is exposed o variability in its cash Qows and eamings resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates.

The group's objective in managing its ¢xposure to interest rate and foreign curreney exchange rates is to
decrease the volatdin of it earmings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
established policies and procedures to govern these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
instruments including interest rale swaps. cross-currency interest swaps and foreign currency forward rawe
contracts. It is the group’s palicy not fo enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative trading
purposes. nor to enter into derivative Hinancial instruments with a level of complesity or with a risk that 1s
greater than the exposure 1o be managed. The amounts below include amounts retating w shorl term as wellb as
long term creditors,

Financial and vperational risk management is undentaken as pan of the group's operations as a whale. These are
cunsidered in more detaid in the consolidawd financial statements of the group.

The dernvative finanaal instruments held by the company are recorded at far value on the balance sheet in
accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruntents. The fair values of these derivative financial instruments are
valued using internal models based on ohservable inputs. counterparty valuations. or market transactions in
vither the listed or over-the counter marhets. adjusted for non-performance rish.
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9  Financial instruments (continued)

C'ross currency swap contracts

The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media

group:
Final Hedge type Notional amount  Neotioasl amount  Interest rate due
maturity due to due from to counterparty
date counterparty counterparty

V00 000
Feb-22 Not designated $63.271 £44.462 5.3%
Feb-22 Not designated $74.310 £52.219 4.9%
Oct-24 Not designated S 497.000 £349,150 6.0%
Jan-26 Not designated $3.460,000 £2.380234 3.5%

[nterest rate swap coniracts

laterest rate due
from counterparty

37%
34%
4.5%

j-qnﬂ

The company holds the foliowing outstanding swap agreements with anothet cormpany within the Virgin Media

group:
Final Hedge type Notional amount  Notional amouwnt  Interest rate due
maturity due to due from to counterparty
date counterparty conpterparty

800 000
Jan-27 Not desipnated £400.000 £400.000 4.29%
Nov-27 Not designated £500.000 £500.000¢ 4.29%

10 Share capital
tHotsed, called wpr and fully peid
76,184 ¢2018: 76,184) ordinary shares ot £ | each

11 Reserves

Share caprital

2019
£ 000

76

Interest rate due
from counte rparty

4.80%q
+.83%

2018
£ 000

76

I he balance classified as share capual represents the noming! value on issuc of the company’s share capital.

comprising £1 ordinary shares.

Nhere premawm daccount

Share premium represents the amount of consideration received tor the company 's share capilal in excess ol the

pominal value of shares tssued

€ upitad contribaiion

The £5 million capital contribution was received from Virgin Media Communications Limited as part of a

comprehensive group restructuring in 2006
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14

Reserves (continned)
{reasury shares reserve

The wreasury share reserve represented the amount of the company™s equity share capital together with share
premium held by VN EFH Limited. which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Finance PLC. VAIFH
Limited acquired 19.7% of the company’s shares from Virgin Media Communications | imited on 29
December 2614, The company subsequently acquired 100%6 of the share capital of VMFH Limited from Viegin
Media Communications Limited. During 2018, as result of a group wide restructure. VAIFH distributed s
shares in the company to the company which were subsequenily cancelled.

becumidated foxaes

Inchudes all current and prior period retained profits and fosses.

Auditer’s and directors” remuneration

Fees paid to KPMG LLP and its associates for non-audit services o the parent company itself are not diselosed
in the individual accounts of \irgin Media Finance PLC because group financial statements are prepared which
disciose such fees on a consulidated basis,

The directors received ne remuneration for qualifying services as directors of this company. Al directors’
remuneration is paid and disclosed in the group’s tinancial statements.

Guarantees

I'he company. along with fellow group undernakings. is pany 1o a senior secured credit tacility with a sy ndicate
of banks. As at -31 December 2(19. this comprised term facilisies that amounted o £4.015 mitlion (2018 -
£3.564 millien) and an outstanding balance of £nil (20618 - £nil) which was borrowed under revolving facilities
of £1,000 million (2018 - £675 million). Borrowings under the facilities are secured against the assets of vertain
members of the group including those of this company .

In addition, a fellow group undertahing has issued senior seeured notes which, subject to ¢enain exceptions,
share the same guarantees and security which have been granted in favour of the senior secured ceedit facilits.
The amount owtstanding under the senior secured notes at 31 December 2069 amounted to £4.491 miltion
12018 - £4.938 million). Borrowings under the notes are secured against the assets of certain members of the
group inciuding those of this company .

Furthemmore, a fellow group anderahing has issued senior notes for which the company. along with ¢erain
tellow group undertakings. has guaraateed the notes ont a seaior subordinated basis. The amount cuistanding
under the senior notes as at 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately £ 194 million (2018 - £1,570
milliont,

The company has jointand several liabiliues under a group ¥ A F registration.
Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company’s immediate parent undertuking s A irgin Media Communications Limited.

The smalest and largest groups of which the campany is a member and in o whick the company 's aecaunts
were consolidated at 31 December 2019 are Virgin Media Finance PLC and Liberts Global ple. respectivels.

The company 's ultimate parent undertahing und controlling party at 31 December 2019 was Liberts Global ple.

Capivs of group accuutits referred o above whiich metade the resalts of the compamy are aaidlable from the
company secretans, Virgin Media. 300 Brook Drive, Reading. United Kingdom, RG2 60 L.

In addition vopies of the consalidated 1 iberty Global ple accounts are available en Liberty Global's website at
s diberty global.com or ffom the company secretary. §iberty Global ple. Greittin Howse, 161 Hammersmith
Ruad. London, United Kingdom W6 8BS.
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15 Post Balance Sheet Events

COVID-19

In Nlarch 2020. the World Health Oreanisation declared the recent cutbreak of a novel sirain of coronavirus
(COVID-19) to be a plobal pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
imposed by governments worldwide. including travel restrictions. restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the plobal economy. disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of firancial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-1Y pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures aken o contain or mitigate its outbreak. an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and resulis of operations in
future periods.

Pending joint venture transaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered imto a Contribution Agreement with, among others, Telefonica. SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant 1o this agreement. Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed tw form a 50:50 joint venture.
which will combine Virgin Media's operations in the UKk with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK to create
a nationwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this wansaction is subject 1o certain conditions. including competition clearance by the
applicable regulaiory authorities. it is anticipated that the transaction wili close around the middle of 2021. The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights. including a right of the parties to terminate
the agreement if the transaction has not ciosed within twenty-four months follawing the date of the agreement.
which may be extended by six months under cerain citcumstances.

Financing transactions

{n June 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions. as further described below.

Senior notes transactions

The company issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. The net proceeds, together with
the May 2020 proceeds were used 1o redeetn in full €460 million and $388.7 million outstanding principal
amount of 2023 senior notes.

The compans issued an additional 2034 senior notes with principal amounts of $250 million €500 million. The
net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used {11 1o redeem in tull $497 million vutstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $SE23.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding principal amounts of
enisting 2022 semor notes and (21 lor general corputale purpuses.

[ he new secured notes rank pari-passu ssith the proup’s existing secured notes and subject 1o cerain exceptions.
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.
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